# BUILDING BRIDGES IN BETWEEN

BUILDING BRIDGES IN BETWEEN ECHO CHAMBERS

## EMPOWERING YOUNG-ADULTS IN SOCIAL MEDIA NEWS CONSUMPTION

MSc Design for Interaction Delft University of Technology

> Elif Dilara Bora August, 2024

#### Author

Elif Dilara Bora

#### **Graduation Committee**

#### Chair

Dr. Dave Murray-Rust Faculty of Industrial Design Engineering Human-Algorithm Interaction Design

#### Mentor

Dr. Sara Colombo Faculty of Industrial Design Engineering Designing Responsible AI

#### Master Thesis

MSc. Design for Interaction Faculty of Industrial Design Engineering Delft University of Technology

August, 2024

**Building Bridges in between Echo Chambers:** 

## **Empowering Young-Adults** in Social Media News Consumption

Elif Dilara Bora



## Acknowledgements

Dear reader,

I'm happy to present to you my master's thesis, marking the end of an exciting journey. Before diving into the details of my research, I'd like to thank the amazing people who supported me along the way.

First of all, I'd like to thank my supervisors, Dave Murray-Rust and Sara Colombo, for their great feedback and insightful conversations. You encouraged me to step out of my comfort zone, tackle new challenges, and pursue my project in my own way. I truly enjoyed this learning process with your guidance, and it wouldn't have been possible without you. I also want to thank Aadjan van der Helm, who introduced me to the Studiolab community. My thesis process would not have been the same without him welcoming me to Studiolab. I'm grateful for the chance to spend time in the Studiolab during this process and thankful for all the connections and conversations I've made there.

Special thanks to all the participants who contributed to this thesis during the interviews, provotypes, and user evaluation sessions. Your contributions were invaluable.

Additionally, I would like to thank the Aegean Exporters Association in Turkey, for organizing design competitions and supporting students in their ambitions to study abroad financially. Your support provided me the opportunity to earn this degree.

I can't thank my family enough for their endless support. Thank you, mom and dad. Without you, it wouldn't have been possible for me to move to a different country, study for my master's, and chase my dreams. I'm so lucky to have you by my side. Sizi seviyorum.

A big thanks to all my friends and my partner who made this journey motivating for me. I feel blessed to have Ozan with me during this journey. Knowing he's always right by my side and supporting me made this process easier. Thank you, Ozan, for making me a better person.

Last but not least, I am grateful to Gül and Kumsal for being right by my side, offering support and countless conversations that made this journey easier and filled it with fun. A special thanks to Kash and Noor for bringing amusement along the way, and to my roommates for standing by me through everything. I'm deeply grateful for all the friendships I've made throughout this journey.

I feel lucky to have made such meaningful friendships and connections during my master's degree, and I'm proud to be graduating from TU Delft. Here's to a bright and hopeful future!

All the best, Dilara



## **Executive Summary**

Social media has revolutionized how we access and share vast amounts of information, fundamentally altering the ways we interact, debate, and form opinions. Social media platforms have become predominant channels for information with personalization algorithms significantly shaping the content we encounter, thus, have a big impact on society. Initially, none of the social media platforms were created with the aim of delivering news. However, as their user bases expanded and their features diversified, a significant portion of their users began perceiving and using them as a news source. The research specifically focuses on the platform X (formerly Twitter), which is selected for its mission to promote and protect public conversation, positioning itself as the town square of the internet.

This thesis explores the design interventions to disrupt incidental news consumption and foster healthy discourse on social media platforms, particularly X (formerly Twitter). The literature review incorporates interdisciplinary elements, such as recommender systems, echo chambers, EU regulations, and democracy models, providing a comprehensive framework for the study. Insights from stakeholders, including politicians, non-profit organizations, and policy advisors, revealed overlooked aspects and guided the exploration of potential changes to the social media landscape. An in-depth analysis of X's features and issues informed the development of design proposals to introduce frictions in news consumption, aiming to increase exposure diversity and facilitate healthy online discourse. By analyzing qualitative data from stakeholder interviews, provotypes, and the user evaluation session, the research identifies challenges and opportunities in designing interventions.

This thesis provides design recommendations to introduce friction to incidental news consumption on social media and uncovers users' preferences and concerns about online discussion spaces which aim to foster healthy discourses. In the end, the thesis uses these design recommendations and redesigns the initial design proposals to be able to provide a concept and solidify the recommendations for the future research.

Finally, this thesis advocates for the introduction of frictions into endless social media feeds to bridge echo chambers and enhance the diversity of viewpoints encountered. In other words, this research demonstrates that social media experiences do not always need to be seamless. Thoughtfully introduced frictions can provide moments for reflection and encourage users to engage with a broader range of perspectives, ultimately supporting a more informed and democratic society.

This work represents an initial step towards a more reflective and informed social media experience, contributing to a healthier democracy and a better-informed public. While the thesis acknowledges that influencing regulatory change is a long-term endeavor, it hopes to go beyond the scope of the thesis and be an influence to the future regulation practices.

## **Reading Guide**

This reading guide provides an overview of the thesis to assist readers in navigating to specific sections easily. Each chapter begins with a brief introduction on its cover page, followed by a detailed explanation of the topic and the research conducted.

The thesis is organized into two main phases: the research phase and the design phase. Visual cues are used to differentiate these two phases, making it easier for readers to follow the progression of the thesis. The guide aims to help readers easily locate the content they are looking for.



## **Table of Contents**

#### **1. Project Context**

12
12
13
14
14

#### 2. Theoretical Foundation

2.1 Social Media Personalisation Systems	18
2.2 Occurrence of Echo Chambers	18
2.3 Incidental News Consumption on Social Media	19
2.4 Digital Services Act (DSA)	19
2.5 Deliberative Democracy	20
2.6 Design Interventions in the Literature	21
2.7 Building Bridges	22
2.8 Conclusions	23

### 3. Design Research

27

41

11

16

3.1 Approach & Methodology	28
3.1.1 Research Through Design	28
3.1.2 Design Activism	28
3.2 Macro Level: Exploratory Research	30
3.2.1 Stakeholder Interviews	30
3.3 Micro Level: Provotypes	33
3.3.1 Designing Provotypes	34
3.3.2 Setting the Environment for Provotypes	35
3.3.3 Participant Selection	36
3.3.4 Insights	36
3.4 Triangulation & Discussion	37

### 4. Shaping the Design Vision

4.1 Current X(Twitter) Features	42
4.2 Examining Current Discussions in X	43
4.3 Design Vision	44
4.4 Design Criteria	45

## 5. Initial Design Proposal

5.1 La 5.2 Di	Inding Page srupting Incidental Exposure 5.2.1 Framing 5.2.2 Priming 5.2.3 Social Norms 5.2.4 Loss Aversion
5.3 De	edicated Discussion Space
6. U	ser Evaluation
6.1	Method

- 6.2 Participant Selection
- 6.3 Data Collection
- 6.4 Data Analysis6.5 Insights
  - 6.5.1 Overall Insights of the Session 6.5.2 Intervention-Based Insights
- 6.6 Takeaways from the Session
- 6.7 Reflection to the Session Outcomes

## 7. Design Recommendations

7.1 Disruption Related Recommendations
7.2 Discussion Space Related Recommendation
7.3 Redesign Proposals
7.3.1 Disrupting Incidental News Expos
7.3.2 Dedicated Discussion Space
I

## 8. Discussion & Conclusion

8.1 Discussion about the Process
8.2 Discussion about Recommendations & Imp
8.3 Revisiting Research Questions
8.4 Limitations of the Research
8.5 Suggested Future Research
8.6 Reflection to the Project
8.7 Conclusion

References Appendix

### **47**

48
49
49
49
50
50
52

#### 55

56
56
56
57
58
58
60
64
65

#### **69**

	70
ions	71
	72
osure	72
	77

#### 81

	82
plementation	83
	86
	87
	87
	88
	89

94 102 ▌●〕<sub>₽┥</sub>(●〕<sup>|</sup> =(●→<mark></mark> -(•) -(•) -(•) -(•) - --(•) - --(•) • 7. -(•) - --(•) 7 • - -

## **CHAPTER 1**

PROJE CONTE

This chapter introduces the impact of social media personalization algorithms in shaping user content and highlights the issues of information isolation, such as filter bubbles and echo chambers. The chapter outlines the thesis's focus on exploring these phenomena, particularly on the X platform (formerly Twitter). It sets the stage for subsequent sections and research objectives aimed at fostering exposure to diverse viewpoints and healthy online discourse. This chapter includes:

1.1 Introduction
 1.2 Problem Statement
 1.3 Project Scope
 1.4 Project Aim
 1.5 Research Questions



## 1.1 Introduction

Social media transformed the mechanism of how we access and share vast amounts of information, consequently changing the ways we interact, debate and form opinions. (Flaxman et al., 2016; Del Vicario et al., 2016) According to the social media statistics from 2023, social media is used by 4.8 billion people worldwide, which accounts for 59.9% of the global population and 92.7% of everyone who uses the internet. (Nyst, 2023) (Figure 1)

Social media platforms have become predominant channels for information (Garg & Singh, 2022) with personalization algorithms significantly shaping the content we encounter, thus, have a big impact on society. (Kleanthous & Siklafidis, 2023) As social media platforms give users direct access to an extensive volume of content, altering the landscape of information spread from their original purpose of entertainment. (Cinelli et al., 2021) These platforms thrive on data, shaping personalized experiences. The content users see is determined by algorithms called recommender systems. These systems rely on three main signals: network, behavior, and demographics (Narayanan, 2023) to construct a user's feed.

On social media platforms, we encounter recommender systems frequently without knowing how much of our content is personalized and manipulated for various reasons. Notably, recommender systems play a significant role in shaping the promotion of content by considering users' preferences and attitudes. (Cinelli et al., 2021) In computer science, the algorithms powering social media are known as recommender systems (Narayanan, 2023). These systems are often referred to in the literature as personalization algorithms or personalized systems (Kleanthous & Siklafidis, 2023b; Eg et al., 2023).

This thesis uses these terms interchangeably. The potential effects of personalized systems in isolating online information are often described as filter bubbles (Bruns, 2019; Dahlgren, 2021; Zuiderveen Borgesius et al., 2016), echo chambers (Bruns, 2019; Geiβ et al., 2021; Spohr, 2017), and feedback loops (Dahlgren, 2021; Spohr, 2017). Although these terms overlap, they do not refer to identical phenomena (Eg et al., 2023). For example, Bruns (2019) describes echo chambers as resulting from preferential social media connections, whereas filter bubbles arise from preferential communications. Despite these nuances, both concepts share the common feature of information isolation and its impact on users (Eg et al., 2023). While some literature attempts to distinguish between echo chambers and filter bubbles, the distinction is often unclear (Plettenberg et al., 2020b).

This thesis uses these terms interchangeably, focusing on the shared aspect of information isolation and its effect on users.

## 1.2 **Problem** Statement

Social media timelines demonstrate that, due to personalized systems, users are increasingly exposed to content that aligns with their existing beliefs rather than challenging perspectives, leading to the formation of filter bubbles. Consequently, this phenomenon hinders their capacity to make well-informed decisions. (Chao et al., 2023) Online users tend to lean towards information that aligns with their existing worldviews while disregarding opposite perspectives, thereby forming polarized groups centered around shared narratives. (Cinelli et al., 2021)

When it comes to social media, younger individuals are more inclined than adults to rely on social media as a news source and exhibit trust in information coming from these platforms, indicating a generational gap in both news consumption habits and



attitudes toward content on social media. (Choi et al., 2023) Younger individuals who have less interest in news often encounter news content incidentally on social media through personalized timelines, making them more likely to be impacted by this exposure. (Fletcher and Nielsen, 2017) Most scholars define incidental exposure as situations where "people inadvertently consume news and information [...] when they are not actively seeking it" (Kim et al., 2013b).

In conclusion, young adults tend to consume news and get information from social media, trusting the information coming from these sources. However, the information and news they encounter are influenced by personalized recommender systems that show content aligning with their existing beliefs and past interactions. This creates filtered views, limiting their exposure to diverse perspectives. This raises several questions:

How can we design social media platforms to encourage exposure to diverse viewpoints, especially for young adults?

In what ways can incidental news consumption be used to promote healthy discourse online?

Figure 1. Visualisation of social media statistics from 2023

## 1.3 **Project Scope**

This thesis explores the impact of social media personalization algorithms at the moment of incidental news consumption, considering the occurrence of echo chambers and its effects on both individuals and society. The research specifically focuses on the platform X (formerly Twitter), which is selected for its mission to promote and protect public conversation, positioning itself as the town square of the internet. (Twitter 2.0: Our Continued Commitment to the Public Conversation, n.d.) Despite this mission, Liu and Weber (2014) argue that Twitter's structure may undermine democratic discourse by encouraging users to interact primarily with like-minded individuals, thus reinforcing echo chambers.

The primary aim of this thesis is to design interventions that address the challenges posed by social media personalization systems, particularly for end-users of the X platform. These challenges include the tendency of algorithms to create echo chambers, which limit users' exposure to diverse perspectives and diminish opportunities for meaningful discourses online with diverse views. In addition to focusing on the end-users, this research considers the perspectives of key stakeholders such as policy advisors, politicians, and nonprofit organizations. These stakeholders bring

valuable insights into the societal impact of echo chambers and the current regulatory framework. However, the central objective is to explore design interventions for users, particularly young adults who are likely to encounter news incidentally on their timelines and thus be impacted by being trapped in echo chambers with a limited worldview.

The research is inspired by design activism as its methodological approach for the exploration phase. This framework uses design as a tool to address and inspire change around societal issues, specifically in the context of incidental news consumption and its effects on users of X. The study will conclude with design recommendations aimed at increasing exposure to diverse viewpoints in social media news consumption and will also provide feedback to the stakeholders involved throughout the research process.

## 1.5 Research Questions

**RQ1.** How can we increase the exposure to diverse viewpoints in incidental news consumption on X(formerly Twitter)?

**RQ2.** How can design interventions bring users with different viewpoints together on X?

**RQ3.** What would designed discussion spaces that bridge echo chambers to foster healthy discourse look like?

## 1.4 Project Aim

This project aims to increase young adults' exposure to diverse viewpoints in incidental news consumption on X (formerly Twitter), bring users with diverse viewpoints together and foster healthy discussions online.



## CHAPTER 2

# 

This chapter provides a theoretical foundation for understanding the impact of social media personalization systems, echo chambers, incidental news consumption, the regulatory landscape on digital interactions, and democracy models. By synthesizing these elements, the chapter establishes a comprehensive theoretical framework for addressing the challenges posed by social media personalization and echo chambers. It sets the stage for exploring design interventions that can mitigate these issues and improve the quality of online discourse. This chapter includes:

- 2.1 Social Media Personalisation Systems
- 2.2 Occurrence of Echo Chambers
- 2.3 Incidental News Consumption on Social Media
- 2.4 Digital Services Act (DSA)
- 2.5 Deliberative Democracy
- 2.6 Design Interventions in the Literature
- 2.7 Building Bridges
- 2.8 Conclusions



## 2.1 Social Media Personalisation Systems

Personalized recommender systems are a type of algorithm designed to learn from users' past preferences in order to predict their future interests. These systems provide tailored suggestions that match the users' tastes. The main goal of the recommendation algorithm in a personalized system is to accurately capture and represent users' interests. (Sonboli et al., 2021b) Recommendation algorithms rely on three main signals: network, behavior, and demographics (Narayanan, 2023), which collectively determine the content presented to users. Network refers to user interactions with others, including actions like follows, comments, and subscriptions. Behavioral data stands out as the most critical signal, relying on similarities between posts and individuals. Shared attributes, such as a hometown, hobby, or community increase the engagement with related posts among individuals. Demographics including characteristics such as age, gender, language, and geography, are particularly useful when a user initially joins the platform. However, their significance diminishes as users establish a behavioral footprint. (Narayanan, 2023) All of these factors determine the content that users see. When a recommender system on social media provides users with hyper-personalized information matching users' specific interests and preferences, while such a service may improve user experience, it may also limit users' exposure to diverse opinions. (Jeon et al., 2021)

## 2.2 Occurrence of Echo Chambers

An echo-chamber can be defined as where someone's political inclination, opinion, or belief on a particular subject is reinforced by frequent interactions with peers who have similar views. (Cinelli et al., 2020a) Users show the tendency to select information that adheres to their beliefs and join polarized groups formed around shared narratives. (Del Vicario et al., 2016, Garimella et al., 2018) Cinelli et al. (2020a) suggests a characterization of echo chambers rooted in the simultaneous presence of two key elements: (i) the polarization of opinions regarding a controversial issue, and (ii) the tendency for individuals to engage primarily with others who share similar views, known as homophilic interactions. This is often linked to a phenomenon known as selective exposure to information, which describes people's tendency to prefer information that aligns with their beliefs while avoiding information that conflicts with them. In other words, despite the vast array of information available on the Internet, people may not encounter a variety of viewpoints if they do not actively seek out information that challenges their current attitudes. (Liao & Fu, 2014) It is crucial for users to recognize when they are within such narrow information pathways, enabling them to make informed decisions about whether to remain or take steps to break free. (Kleanthous & Siklafidis, 2023b) In a survey study conducted by Kleanthous and Siklafidis (2023b) involving users of techrelated online communities, participants appeared to be well aware that most of the platforms they use are governed by algorithms, resulting in users not seeing the same content online. According to Plettenberg et al. (2020c), a study on users' behavior and awareness of filter bubbles on social media, users who are aware of echo chambers appreciate a tool to help them avoid it. This indicates that existing technical solutions are either inadequate or not well-known to many users.

## 2.3 Incidental News Consumption on Social Media

Initially, none of the social media platforms were created with the aim of delivering news. However, as their user bases expanded and their features diversified, a significant portion of their users began perceiving and using them as a news source. There was noticeable diversity in this trend across different networks and countries. (Pew Research Centre, 2016 ; Newman et al., 2015)

Traditionally, achieving a well-rounded understanding of topics and arguments could be facilitated by (public) media and news outlets that adhere to regulations and ethical standards, particularly concerning the quality and diversity of content. (Helberger et al., 2015) However, especially young-adults rely on social media to access news (Walker et al., 2021) instead of using responsible public media sources. They also demonstrate a higher level of trust in information obtained through social media platforms (Liedke et al., 2022). Younger individuals who have less interest in news often encounter news content incidentally on social media through personalized timelines, making them more likely to be impacted by this exposure. (Fletcher and Nielsen, 2017) Since these feeds are customized by algorithms based on user behavior and demographics, younger people with minimal interest in news may be easily steered toward particular beliefs and viewpoints without critical examination. Furthermore, their view tends to be limited due to the constant exposure to similar views.

In the current media landscape, a significant portion of news is produced not by journalists but by various individuals and organizations (Ryfe, 2019). Therefore, the definition of 'news' should encompass more than just traditional media. By acknowledging this information, this thesis specifically focuses on traditional news sources as the primary source of news, aiming to remain connected to the information published by official organizations in X and the opinions and perspectives of users around that specific information.

## 2.4 Digital Services Act (DSA)

For many years, the European Union (EU) has been trying to implement a digital strategy aimed at creating a modern legal framework that safeguards online users' fundamental rights while also promoting business growth and access to new markets. (Turillazzi et al., 2023) On October 19, 2022, the Digital Services Act (DSA) was adopted, marking a significant step in the EU's efforts to enhance the regulation of online services. (Wilman, 2022) The DSA classifies platforms or search engines with over 45 million monthly users in the EU as very large online platforms (VLOPs) or very large online search engines (VLOSEs)(DSA: Very Large Online Platforms and Search Engines, 2024), which includes Big Tech companies like X(formerly Twitter).

Under the DSA, VLOPs are required to evaluate systemic risks associated with their services (Article 34) and take measures to mitigate these risks (Article 35). They must also disclose the main parameters of their recommender systems (Article 27), provide at least one option that doesn't rely on personal data profiling (Article 38), and avoid using dark patterns or manipulative design practices (Article 25). This implies that X should offer a non-personalized feed that is user-friendly and easy to use.

Governments are increasingly concerned about the negative impacts that Big Tech companies, especially social media platforms, can have on democracy. This concern is due to a lack of transparency in these companies' business models and operations, as well as their involvement in incidents of user manipulation and the spread of fake news. Notable examples include the Cambridge Analytica case, where users' personal data was collected without their consent for use in political advertising. (Turillazzi et al., 2023)

The European Digital Rights (EDRi) network, which includes NGOs, experts, and advocates, has been defending online rights and freedoms for over two decades (European Digital Rights (EDRI), 2024) One of its members, the Panoptykon Foundation (Panoptykon Foundation, 2023) in Poland, focuses on ensuring that new technologies serve society and allows individuals to choose how they use them. They have published a position paper on user empowerment in recommender systems. (Prototyping User Empowerment: Towards DSA-compliant Recommender Systems | Panoptykon Foundation, n.d.)

The Panoptykon Foundation argues that implementing changes to mitigate systemic risks as defined by the DSA will likely face resistance from VLOPs, making independent recommendations essential. In 2023, a multidisciplinary group of researchers, civil society experts, technologists, and designers met to discuss user experience (UX) and interaction design features that could give users more control and choice over the content they see. They highlighted the need for designers to play a crucial role in translating the DSA into practical UX designs that will shape users' experiences on social media platforms.

While the Panoptykon Foundation's position paper highlights control and autonomy features in recommender systems, it doesn't fully delve into broader issues such as democracy, public debate, and incidental news consumption. This thesis acknowledges these efforts and sees it as an opportunity to explore how design can contribute to enhancing the quality of online discourses, and promote increased exposure to diverse perspectives through interventions in incidental news consumption.

## 2.5 Deliberative Democracy

While the filter bubble has been a concern for many, there are different answers to the question as to why filter bubbles are a problem for our democracy. There are different democracy theories and the threat of filter bubbles depends on one's understanding of the nature and value of democracy, on one's conception of democracy (Bozdag & Van Den Hoven, 2015b).

Deliberative democracy, often based on Habermas's (1989) concept of the public sphere, emphasizes the importance of diverse exposure not just for individual satisfaction but for fostering rational public debate and the development of well-informed public opinion. (Helberger et al., 2016) According to Habermas, deliberative democracy takes place in the public sphere—a communicative space that unites individuals from various backgrounds, allowing them to exchange information, share opinions, and engage in discourse. (Habermas & Burger, 1989)

Echo chambers within online communities can have implications for democracy and should be carefully considered and evaluated. (Erickson et al., 2023) In the deliberative perspective of democracy, echo chambers are perceived as problematic not because they hinder users from accessing desired content, but because they undermine the quality of public discourse (Bozdag & Van Den Hoven, 2015b). Exposure to diverse viewpoints is valuable in this perspective because it enables citizens to form more informed opinions and fosters less polarized, more tolerant attitudes towards those with differing views (Garrett & Stroud, 2014).

Deliberative democracy posits that users should have exposure to diverse viewpoints to uncover disagreements, truths, and various perspectives, thereby facilitating better decision-making. To enhance the epistemic quality of information, it's essential to increase the visibility of a wide range of opinions and perspectives on a given topic. This allows users to compare their own views with opposing viewpoints, promoting a richer understanding of the subject (Bozdag & Van Den Hoven, 2015b).

## 2.6 Design Interventions in the Literature

Helberger et al. (2016) argues that more advanced software designs aimed at giving users greater control are mainly discussed in academic research rather than implemented in current recommender systems. Consequently, intentionally accommodating different viewpoints in recommender system design has received less practical attention. Although a representative study conducted in the Netherlands, shows that while some of the population appreciated the benefits of increased personalization in news media, the majority valued being more broadly informed. (Helberger et al., 2016)\* This section briefly examines the design interventions in the literature that focuses on deliberative democracy perspective which supports that individuals are, or should be, exposed to a variety of viewpoints, enabling them to identify disagreements, uncover truths, gain different perspectives, and ultimately make more informed decisions. (Bozdag & Van Den Hoven, 2015b)

\*The survey was conducted among a representative sample of the Dutch population (n = 1400) and was part of the Personalized Communication Project (http://personalised- communication.net).

Design interventions examined in this section are selected due to their relevance with deliberative democracy perspective. These interventions are clustered and the categories are created based on the values they introduce:

1- Reflection on own and others' perspectives a. Considerlt (Kriplean et al., 2012) encourages people to reflect on tradeoffs and others' perspectives. It enhances public deliberation by building on personal reflection and focusing on the tradeoffs of proposed actions and creating pro/con points. (Figure 2)

Statewide		I-591 Match state gun re	egulation to national standar	ds? 🔻 Next: Increase backgro
	Supporters	Slide Your O	Verall Opinion	Opposers
	Others' Pros	Give Your Pros	Give Your Cons	Others' Cons
	What is the point of inconveniencing law abiding citizens and perhaps making inadvertent criminals out of them when	Dreg a Pro from the left	Drag a Con from the right	We do not need more reasons why authorities cannot confiscate guns. (1 comment)
	bad guys (and gals) can just buy their firearms in the next state over. (4 comments)	or • <u>Write a new Pro</u>	or • <u>Write a new Con</u>	Background checks are already a part of purchasing a gun from a gun store, and I've never heard a gun
•	Follow the money, I-594 is that the elites want, I-591 is what the people want	Save your opinic	on and see results or just skip to the results	advocate try to get that repealed. (1 comment)
	(0 comments)			Washington State should be a LEADER in establishing effective oun control. Other

Figure 2. ConsiderIt

b. OpinionSpace(Faridani et al., 2010) maps individual web forum comments on a two-dimensional grid, based on responses to a brief value-based questionnaire. This allows readers to explore diverse comments and prepare to engage with perspectives different from their own. (Figure 3)



Figure 3. OpinionSpace

#### 2- Discovery of diverse facts

c. NewsCube(Park et al., 2009) generates and delivers multiple categorized perspectives on news, enabling readers to uncover comprehensive facts. This helps readers in understanding news from multiple angles and forming their own balanced viewpoints, independent of specific biases.

d. CubeThat(Chhabra & Resnick, 2012) is a Chrome browser extension that shows suggested additional news articles related to the topic of the current news story. (Figure 4)

	Republicans shoot down tax on rich	Ac Cluster 1 34t - Why Everyone is Wrong About the Buffett Rule
Join the conversation You're the only person reading this now. Tell your friends	April 17, 2012 *Read later	Forber Republicans shoot down tax on rich Brisbane Times Republicans shoot down tax on rich The Age Dens keep pushing the Buffett Rule despite GOP roadblock Dertwit Fere Press
Top World articles 1. 23 stain in Mexican cartel war 2. Cheetahs attack woman at	President Barack Obama on one of his top election-year issues, derailing a Democratic bill forcing the top US earners to	Cluster 2 'Buffet rule' fails, but it will be back Christian Science Monitor
safari park 3. France's unlikely first lady struggles to keep her distance 4. Outbursts in court as 9111 accused charged 5. Abducted Australian pleads for life • More World articles	pay at least 30 per cent of their income in taxes. The vote came the day before Americans' annual taxes are due.	Cluster 3 GOP derails Senate 'Buffett rule' taxes on wealthy Buffett rule fails Senate vote Suff co.m. Senate fails short in voce on 'Buffett Rule' millionaire tax. Sam. Asce. Moreary. News GOP derails Senate 'Buffett rule' taxes on wealthy
Story Tools Share on Facebook	voters and embarrass senators in close races this election year than to push legislation into law.	Pri Business Week
Email this story Print this story	Obama denounced the vote, saying, "It's just plain wrong that millions of middle-class Americans pay a higher share of their Americans pay a higher share of their Americans pays a higher share of their americans p	Ac Democrats Demonstrate on Tax Day Wall Street Journa (blog)
The Age Jobs Site Engineer - Tier 1 560,000 - \$30,000 pkg Melbourne CBD, VI Design & Build	Republicans called the measure a divisive Democratic distraction from the nation's real problems.	Cluster 5 False-Equivalence Watch: Nice Work by the Times and Post! The Atlantic
	"This legislation will do nothing with regard to job creation, with regard to gas prices, with regard to economic recovery," said	New Cluster
Engineering Lead	Senator Jon Kyl, the No. 2 senate Republican leader.	Get the latest here policy and protect your

Figure 4. CubeThat

## 3- Encouraging listening and perspective taking

e. Reflect(Kriplean et al., 2011) modifies webpage comments to promote listening and understanding. It includes a listening box beside each comment, prompting users to briefly restate the commenter's points, even in disagreement. This nudges users to actively listen to others. (Figure 5)

Lisa Russell This idea has already been put into action by the Seattle City Council with disastrous results. If you want to eliminate parking requirements, then make each sign an affavit that they will not park their car on the steel. If they work Taigs then they can the steel. The current result of this idea is that developers make more more because they haven't provided parking, and neighbohods lose because new people come in and park on the steel.	Readers hear Lisa saying Instead, the city should implement befare neiphorhood coverage of public transit and zipcar. Ballardoon Seattle CBy Council already fried this before, and it didn't end well Kafe * What do you hear Lisa saying?	Does Katie's summary (2) elegantly distill meaning? uncover a good point?
	The lack of parking motivates outside scarce parking spaces <i>Henry</i> Please click the relevant sem Done cancel	i clarify the messager provoke unnecessarily? i umm, its not a summary rs to use
The lack of parking motivates outsiders to use scarce parking spaces <i>Henry</i> Is this accurate?     The model of the scarce of the sca	The lack of parking motivates outside scare oparking spaces <i>Henry</i> clarification; up, but its not guar outsiden resident whose developers did not provide parking     6	rs to use I te new Phem

Figure 5. Reflect

#### 2.6.1 Takeaways from the Design Literature

These design interventions in the literature are not specifically designed for X(Twitter), and even when they are, they are not designed to be part of the current X interface. These solutions were mainly designed as additional tools for intentional news consumption, where users actively seek out and engage with news content. In contrast, this thesis focuses on the current evolving interaction of incidental news consumption, where users encounter news unconsciously as they scroll through their feed. This raises the question:

How can we adapt and integrate these functionalities, or a selection of them, into X's existing interface to address incidental news consumption?

## 2.7 Building Bridges

Concerns about echo chambers suggest that diverse communities may reach a point where they no longer share common foundational beliefs, making their differences difficult to overcome (Nguyen, 2018). However, Erickson et al. (2023) conducted a study examining the similarities and disparities among opposing political groups. Their findings indicated that although various communities hold distinct perceptions regarding significant events and figures, the extent of these differences is less than one might think and these divisions may be bridgeable.

Designing these bridging spaces remains a significant challenge for researchers and practitioners, but prior research provides valuable guidance (Erickson et al., 2023). The literature highlights the importance of not only exposing users to diverse viewpoints but also creating online discussion spaces. Healthy and functional online discussions are more likely when norms of respectful conversation are established (Grönlund et al., 2015). Creating an environment that allows for disagreement and debate without fear of ostracism is essential for fostering healthy discussions (Coscia & Rossi, 2022; Grönlund et al., 2015; Nelimarkka et al., 2018).

This thesis aims to increase young adults' exposure to diverse viewpoints in incidental news consumption on X (formerly Twitter). It seeks to build bridges in between echo chambers, and promote a healthy discourse online.

## 2.8 Conclusions

As mentioned, this thesis explores the impact of social media personalization algorithms on incidental news consumption, focusing on the emergence of echo chambers and their effects on individuals and society.

Given the socio-technical roots of this topic, dividing the scope into macro and micro levels provides clarity. The macro level includes societal aspects such as regulations, democratic perspectives, involved stakeholders and the broader impact of echo chambers on society. The micro level examines user interactions and experiences within platforms during incidental news consumption, identifying potential areas for intervention. (Figure 6)

By positioning the macro level as a background research and focusing on micro level, this thesis aims to design interventions that mitigate the challenges posed by echo chambers and personalized algorithms in social media. The goal is to explore designerly approaches to disrupting the status quo in incidental news consumption and promoting exposure to diverse perspectives.

These three conclusions are drawn from the literature.

## (1) Future research can focus on the interaction of incidental news exposure and designing interventions to mitigate its impact.

Although social media platforms were not originally designed for news delivery, many users now rely on them for news, especially younger individuals who trust these platforms (Walker et al., 2021; Liedke et al., 2022). Incidental exposure to news can lead to intentional news consumption, yet algorithmdriven feeds often narrow the range of viewpoints users encounter (Kim et al., 2013; Strauß et al., 2020). According to Plettenberg et al. (2020c), users who are aware of echo chambers appreciate a tool to help them avoid it. This indicates that existing technical solutions are either inadequate or not wellknown to many users.

#### (2) Promoting spaces for online discourse and the exchange of ideas on digital platforms is crucial for the health of democracy.

Echo chambers within online communities pose significant challenges to democracy by degrading the quality of public discourse (Erickson et al., 2023). To strengthen democracy, it's essential to design systems that enhance the visibility of diverse perspectives, enabling richer, more inclusive public debates (Bozdag & Van Den Hoven, 2015b; Helberger et al., 2016). (3) By conducting user research and developing interventions, it is aimed to generate preliminary insights that could serve as inspiration for future work that informs regulatory bodies.

The DSA is a crucial first step in the EU's efforts to regulate digital environments, with ongoing initiatives by organizations like EDRi (European Digital Rights (EDRI), 2024) continuing to build on this regulation. Building on the Panoptykon Foundation's position paper (Prototyping User Empowerment: Towards DSA-compliant Recommender Systems | Panoptykon Foundation, n.d.), this thesis will focus on creating UX interventions addressing broader issues of promoting increased exposure to diverse perspectives through interventions in incidental news consumption and enhancing the quality of online discourses.

Micro

Jser interactions & experiences in platforms during incidental news consumption

## Macro

Stakeholders, regulations, democratic perspectives, and the impact of echo chambers on society

*Figure 6. Levels of the scope* 





## **CHAPTER 3**

# DESIGI RESEA

This chapter explains the approach and methodology of this thesis, as well as the exploratory research phases based on the conclusions derived from the literature review. The research is structured into macro and micro levels to define a clear structure. The macro level delves into stakeholders' understandings and perceptions of echo chambers and their societal impact as well as their perceptions on current regulations, while the micro level focuses on end-users and their interactions during incidental news consumption. This dual approach serves a purpose of establishing common ground for solution exploration and identifying intervention areas. This chapter includes:

- 3.1 Approach & Methodology
  - 3.1.1 Research Through Design 3.1.2 Design Activism
- 3.2 Macro Level: Exploratory Research
- 3.3 Micro Level: Provotypes
- 3.4 Triangulation & Discussion



## 3.1 **Approach & Methodology**

This section introduces details how the research is guided by the principles of Research Through Design and Design Activism. These methods are applied to explore how design interventions can mitigate the impact of personalised feeds, which often limit users' exposure to diverse perspectives.

#### 3.1.1 Research Through Design

Zimmerman (2003), states that design is inherently a form of research because both activities lead to the creation of new knowledge. Research through design involves engaging in design activities that contribute to the development of understanding and knowledge, through this process, design can reveal new combinations of factors, provoke discussions, and enable interactions that were previously impossible, thus making these interactions observable (Stappers & Giaccardi, 2014).

In this thesis, research through design is employed as a methodology, with the inspiration of design activism guiding the exploratory research to address the challenges of incidental news consumption.

#### 3.1.2 Design Activism

Activism encompasses a wide range of actions and activities deliberately aimed at influencing democratic processes. From this perspective, democracy is regarded as the overarching process, with activism constituting the specific actions and activities taking place within that process. (Ricketts, 2012b) Design activism has the power to challenge and transform established systems of power and authority, creating opportunities to raise

critical awareness about alternative ways of living, working, and consuming. (Markussen, 2013) Fuad-Luke (2013) emphasizes disruption as a key concept for understanding design activism's impact, explaining that activism aims to challenge and replace existing paradigms of shared meaning, values, and purpose with new ones. The design act is distinct from a boycott, strike, protest, or demonstration; rather, it offers a form of resistance through a uniquely designerly approach to intervening in people's lives. (Markussen, 2013)

This thesis is inspired by design activism to address the challenges of incidental news consumption on social media platforms. The goal is to disrupt users' routines of consuming news incidentally and counteract the effects of personalized algorithms that create filter bubbles and echo chambers. The aim is not only to disrupt existing interactions of incidental news consumption but also to create spaces and opportunities for users to engage with a variety of information. This approach seeks to cultivate well-informed individuals who participate in meaningful and constructive dialogues. By intervening in how users incidentally consume news online, this approach challenges the status quo and promotes a more informed and engaged society.

#### 3.1.2.1 Power Mapping

Power mapping is a strategic tool employed by activists and organizers to identify and analyze key stakeholders, influencers, and decision-makers who can affect a specific issue or campaign. (Power Mapping | Activist Handbook, n.d.) Design activists should aim not only to address social needs or market demands but also to lead campaigns that inspire social and political change by considering the broader power structures involved (Fox et al., 2020). In this context, a power map is created to identify and engage with key power holders who can influence and facilitate change within the existing system. This mapping is considered helpful in the process to understand the dynamics of power and leverage relationships to drive meaningful changes.

The map features two axes: the Y axis represents power and influence, while the X axis illustrates alignment with the defined objective.(Left to right, strongly oppose to strongly agree) In this case, the objective is defined as creating possible solutions and regulating recommender systems to mitigate their negative impacts on society. (Figure 7)

Social media companies like X(formerly Twitter) are positioned on the left side, as they implement recommender systems to increase engagement and provide tailored experiences for users. While the engagement keeps users on the platform as long as possible and it makes the platform more profitable. On the other



hand, governments, policymakers, political parties, ethicists, and non-profit organizations are placed on the powerful and supportive side, dealing with societal issues and policies. Academics are situated lower on the powerful spectrum, lacking direct involvement in regulatory matters. Lastly, users are placed at the bottom right, expressing support but possessing lesser influence due to limited awareness and understanding of echo chambers. Including myself on the map as a design researcher, being on the less powerful side highlighted my position in the ecosystem and showed the necessity of reaching out to power-holders.

Acknowledging that the power map was created to identify stakeholders for this research phase and recognizing that many



Figure 7. Power Mapping

factors and positions might change, it guided the next steps in reaching out to stakeholders.

As a result of the power map, the target group was identified as the power-holders situated on the right-hand side of the map—individuals likely to support regulations related to echo chambers. This group includes policymakers, politicians, non-profit organizations, and activist organizations, who were selected to be contacted and invited for interviews.

## **3.2** Macro Level: Exploratory Research

The macro level involves stakeholder interviews, engaging diverse stakeholders to uncover different layers of the problem space.

#### 3.2.1 Stakeholder Interviews

Power Mapping revealed the significance of involving power-holders such as policymakers, politicians, non-profit organizations, and activist organizations. Drawing from insights gathered from the literature review, previous research in HCI has showcased the creation of user interfaces designed to present information from diverse perspectives(Jeon et al., 2021), with a primary focus on platform solutions and takes end-users as the main target group.

This exploration has sparked an interest in understanding the perspectives of powerholders such as policy advisors, politicians, nonprofit organizations, and activist organizations regarding echo chambers and ongoing efforts to address them. Participants for interviews were selected based on these prior findings and the curiosity they sparked.

#### 3.2.1.1 Participant Selection

This study aims to acquire a comprehensive understanding of various stakeholder viewpoints on echo chambers and incidental news consumption online. To gather domainspecific insights from stakeholders, semistructured interviews are conducted to capture qualitative data. Five interviews were conducted, the participant details and discussion areas are provided in Table 1.

#### 3.2.1.2 Data Collection

Before the interviews, participants were provided a consent form, which was signed and returned. Three interviews were conducted online via Zoom, while the other two were conducted in person. All interviews were recorded and transcribed using an automated transcription tool, with each interview lasting approximately 1 hour. Participant recruitment was conducted via email.

Given the diverse expertise and knowledge of the selected stakeholders in specific domains, each stakeholder interview contributes additional insights to the overall understanding of the issue. Consequently, interview questions were tailored slightly, depending on the stakeholder's expertise. Prior to each interview, goals were established and questions were adjusted accordingly. While the interview structure remained consistent, with changes made to expertise-related questions, the general outline was as follows:

**1. Introduction:** The interview started with introductory questions regarding the participant's expertise and background.

2. Perspectives on Recommender Systems and Echo Chambers: The second part focused on gathering the participant's opinions, perspectives, and thoughts on recommender systems and echo chambers.

**3. Domain-Specific Themes:** The third part was adjusted based on the participant's expertise, covering themes such as policy-making, the Digital Services Act, social change, and activism.

Participant Number	Stakeholder Group	Detailed Information	Discussion Areas
P1	Politician	Politician in a political party in the NL & Al Innovation Manager	Perspective of the status quo, reflection on power dynamics.
P2	PhD candidate working on EU regulations	PhD candidate focusing on content moderation, platform governance and regulation, DSA, Artificial Intelligence (AI) and socio-technical and legal system design	Regulations, digital services act(DSA), policy making processes.
Р3	Non-profit organization	Communications & Community Manager at international non – profit organization that educates and connects young people who seek to become leaders on issues related to human and minority rights	Social impact, activist process, the importance of community and fellowships
P4	Policy Advisor	Policy advisor specialized on social media in an independent foundation influences policy and legislation to support an open and fair information society. They do this through advocacy, campaigning and legal action, in the Netherlands and Brussels	Social media related policy making and lobbying
Р5	Social Media User	Social Media User (Student, 23)	Understanding of the status quo

Table 1. Interview Participants

**4. Future Practice:** The final part of the interviews centered on discussing potential future practices and approaches.

#### 3.2.1.3 Data Analysis

After transcribing all five interviews, statement cards (Sanders & Stappers, 2013) were created to structure the data fragments and identify themes and patterns. The process involves extracting quotes from the transcripts, interpreting them, and paraphrasing them into statements that highlight their relevance to the research. This paraphrasing by the researcher facilitates the identification of patterns and clustering of data. The format of the statement cards, which presents the original quotes alongside the researchergenerated statements, simplifies the analysis and enhances the clarity of the findings. (Sanders & Stappers, 2013)

Given that the interview data were obtained from various stakeholders with diverse domain expertise, some clusters tend to encompass insights from multiple stakeholders, while others are specific to particular stakeholders. The statement cards are clustered multiple times to find patterns coming from different stakeholders. Additionally, reclustering the statement cards facilitated the identification of previously unseen patterns and insights from the interviews. A comprehensive data analysis is presented in Appendix C.

#### 3.2.1.4 Insights

The interview analysis revealed patterns of stakeholders' perspectives regarding social media news consumption, Digital Services Act and impact of echo chambers on society. The most significant macro level insights drawn as follows:

**1.** Several stakeholders(P1, P2, P4) find the interventions to address social media news consumption and mitigate the impacts of echo chambers could be possible with actions from power-holders. Including systemic regulations,

governmental initiatives, and platform policies. Individuals are not solely viewed as responsible for their actions.

**2.** Although stakeholders(P2, P4) view the chronological feed in the Digital Services Act (DSA) as a positive step, they express doubts about its effectiveness in addressing echo chambers due to users' lack of understanding about the necessity of using it and potential dark patterns in the implementation.

Micro level insights on social media news consumption and echo chambers include:

**3.** Several stakeholders(P1, P2, P3) find self-reflection valuable as a tool to prompt individuals to critically assess the news they encounter on social media and consider its impact.

**4.** The importance of building a community where individuals with diverse opinions can come together, cultivate mutual awareness, and engage in constructive dialogue has been emphasized. (P1, P3)

**5.** There is a need for users to develop an understanding of healthy practices in social media news consumption, the risks and dangers of echo chambers including how algorithms control people. Users lack information and awareness of the potential effects of personalized feeds on their news consumption habits. (P1, P2, P4, P5)

These insights will be further discussed in Section 3.4.

"I do read quite a lot of news actually on my Instagram." (P5)

"At the moment most of my news consumption comes from some feed." (P2)

## **3.3 Micro Level: Provotypes**

The micro level centers on end-users and their experiences by utilizing research-throughdesign methods like provotypes, aiming to validate stakeholder insights and gather user perspectives. This phase focuses on both the initial insights based on the literature review and stakeholder interviews. While the interviews primarily centered on stakeholders and their perceptions, the need to understand the users' perspective became apparent during analysis. Provotypes were chosen as a method due to their positioning at the beginning of the design process, aiming to stimulate ideation at higher, more abstract levels. (Boer & Donovan, 2012).

To enhance the depth of the research phase before transitioning to the design phase, it was deemed necessary to incorporate an intermediate stage. Provotypes offer a gateway to conflicts within processes; these are artifacts

Provotype



*Figure 8. Visualization of the design phase in which the provotype and prototype are explained* 

or images that encapsulate tensions within a particular context, facilitating exploration of new design possibilities. (Boer & Donovan, 2012) There are three primary goals are set for the provotypes:

**1.** Explore users' perspective of personalized feeds

**2.** Explore ways of using self-reflection as a tool refer to this self reflection coming from the interviews

**3.** Discover users' acceptance to potential tools

These goals aim to address research questions related to understanding how users interact with personalized feeds, which is essential for identifying methods to increase exposure to diverse viewpoints in incidental news consumption. Based on insights from stakeholder interviews, the second goal explores potential approaches for self-reflection to encourage users to consider different viewpoints and engage in more meaningful interactions. Additionally, it focuses on understanding how users might accept and utilize tools designed to bridge echo chambers and foster healthy discourse.

#### 3.3.1 Designing Provotypes

Two provotypes are designed based on the goals mentioned above. The provotypes, given in Figure 9 and Figure 10, are designed to resemble real-life solutions, serving as provocative tools to stimulate critical thinking about their potential use and the reasoning behind it. Each provotype is accompanied by a name and an image. Additionally, posters were created to highlight the added values of the solutions and what they offer. The first provotype is created to establish community involvement within the social media platform whereas the other one provides Al-driven information to users. Based on the goals mentioned above, it has been prioritized to keep the solutions distinct from each other: one involves human factors and values, while the other is an automated solution to consider users' perspectives. Advantages and limitations of human intervention versus providing Al-driven information in tackling echo chambers on social media platforms aimed to be discovered.



### perspective

take care of your friends on social media. Do it yourself together.

Algorithms may govern your feed, but you can make a difference. Join our community challenge to foster connection and build bridges between our diverse views.

In this challenge, you'll be assigned roles periodically to support your friends, while also experiencing their care in return. Your actions might include:

- Sending contrasting news views to your friends
- Implementing a temporary 2-hour social media ban for a friend who's spent too much time online, based on statistics.
- Changing your friends' feeds
- Exchanging feeds with your friends,
- · Adding random content to your friends' feed,
- Temporarily restricting certain content

Figure 9. Provotype 1

## **DIVERSE AI**

Diverse AI has been built by developers and designers who concern about the current way of social media. App will be available soon!

The aim of Diverse AI is to:

- Feeding you with **diverse views**
- Providing a list of **unseen categories and views**
- Providing insights about your content exposure
- Statistical analysis of distribution of views in the platform (56% of the users sees this information)
- Giving personalised content recommendations

#### 3.3.2 Setting the Environment for **Provotypes**

It has been determined that conducting the provotypes in a participatory setting would foster a discussion environment, with the objective of gathering perspectives from young adult social media users regarding social media news consumption. The session included a movie screening(Figure 11), a following discussion, a warm-up activity, and the showcase of provotypes. The first step is a movie screening, chosen to provide information about the current situation and stimulate thinking in a relaxed setting. The movie selected for screening was "The Social Dilemma" (2020) due to its relevance and the activist mindset underlying it. This documentary features insights from



Figure 10. Provotype 2

technologists, activists, and scientists on the impact of social media on humanity, with the aim of raising awareness, providing information, and offering suggestions to users. Additionally, the movie's website encourages individuals to take action through various means and provides guides and materials for facilitators. One such action suggested was hosting a movie session, complete with a guide for facilitating the session and conversation. The movie screening is structured as the initial phase with the purpose of informing users and setting the stage for a natural discussion afterwards.

The discussion is facilitated in a semi structured way, guided by a provided framework. (The Social Dilemma, 2022) Following the discussion, a warm-up exercise is conducted based on the

social media scroll back method (Schubotz, 2020). This method involves the researcher and participant reviewing the participant's social media history. For the warm-up exercise, as an addition, participants are asked to label the types of content they encounter on their feeds, to promote critical reflection. After that, they are instructed to make a circle, switch their phones and view each other's feeds while continuing to label the content types. This exercise aimed to encourage participants to reflect on their own feeds and observe those of others. After completing the exercise, the session continued with the presentation of provotypes, with each provotype discussed individually. The outcomes are gathered through note taking during the session and analyzed by using statement cards (Sanders & Stappers, 2013).

#### **3.3.3 Participant Selection**

The session is promoted as a movie screening and discussion via posters posted on university WhatsApp groups. Eight individuals attended the movie screening and watched the film. Participants were given the option to leave before the discussion began. Six participants chose to stay for the discussion, all of whom were university students and active social media users.

#### 3.3.4 Insights

The insights from the session were gathered through different phases. The most important insights are as follows:

1. The movie screening provided information to users and created consciousness at the moment, some participants expressed that they felt guilty to use their phone during the movie.

**2.** The session revealed that viewing other users' feeds prompted participants to compare and critically assess their own feed.

**3.** Participants expressed an interest to see random news content to broaden their awareness of topics beyond their usual interests.

**4.** While the first provotype (Figure 9) was initially perceived as fun, it was found



Figure 11. Movie Screening

ineffective in practical application as it shifted responsibility onto others. Users recognized the necessity for both themselves and their friends to be informed. Additionally, expressing reluctance to the requirement of extra effort. **5.** Participants appreciated the second provotype (Figure 10) for its informative and automatic nature, seeing it as a chance to break out of their bubble. However, they expressed concerns about sharing data with another application and concerns about its Al involvement.

These insights will be further discussed in the next section.

"I don't use any other source of news. When I just scroll my feed if the news comes to me, it's OK, I get it. If not, I don't care. If it's something really important and influential, I will double check it but otherwise I don't follow news pages." (University Student, Social Media User)

"I would like to change my content to something informative like those math videos or something like that." (University Student, Social Media User)

## **3.4** Triangulation & Discussion

The analysis of stakeholder interviews and provotypes is conducted separately, with the aim of eventually merging the findings and finding repeated patterns. Triangulation in qualitative research involves using various methods or data sources to achieve a comprehensive understanding of phenomena (Patton, 1999). It is also considered a strategy to validate findings by integrating information from diverse sources (Carter et al., 2014). In this chapter, the analysis from the research activities and literature will be integrated in a convergent manner.

Interview insights, along with their connections to the provotype insights, are presented below, with the additional insights from the literature. These insights will serve as core material for the design vision in the next stage.

## 1. Using self-reflection as a tool to provoke thinking about the consumed content.

During the interviews, stakeholders emphasized the importance of self-reflection as a tool for fostering critical assessment. Critical thinking, as defined by Ennis (2011), involves the ability to engage in reflective and independent thought, and to make autonomous decisions regarding actions and beliefs. To explore how self-reflection can be promoted, two approaches were tested in the provotypes session.

#### a. Providing Information

The first approach aimed to provoke selfreflection by providing users with information through two different methods. The first method used a movie to present information in a subtle and relaxed format. The second method employed an Al-driven external application to deliver statistical insights about users' data consumption habits through the second provotype. (Figure 10)

A study by Liao and Fu (2014) suggests that explicitly labeling viewpoints on social media platforms can enhance the pursuit of new and valuable information. Such labeling can serve as a "reminder" of diverse perspectives, thereby promoting diversity. To test this idea, the second provotype was designed to provide users with statistical data about their consumption habits. Participants expressed concerns about privacy and data sharing with the Al-driven application. However, they valued the insights it provided, particularly the visibility of previously unseen content and the distribution of their views (56% of users accessed this information). This suggests that users are receptive to receiving additional information and gaining new perspectives,

which can enhance their awareness of echo chambers.

In contrast, the movie as a more subtle information-providing tool made participants feel self-conscious about their phone use during the viewing. This approach effectively raised awareness and prompted users to reflect on their consumption behaviors at that moment.

#### b. Showing Unseen Content

The second method for provoking selfreflection involved showing users "unseen" content. Participants were exposed to each other's social media feeds during the session. This exposure prompted participants to reflect on the content they were seeing and consider alternative perspectives, increasing their awareness of other options available to them.

Both methods—providing information and showing unseen content—were effective at encouraging users to reflect on their behaviors. The key idea in these approaches is to disrupt users' interactions in order to make them more aware, leading to moments of critical thinking and self-reflection.

"I thought my instagram is balanced but seeing yours, I don't know." (University Student, Social Media User)

"I felt really guilty to scroll on my phone during the movie. As they said, it's just dopamine." (University Student, Social Media User)

"I like the list of unseen categories. You can escape from your comfort zone." (University Student, Social Media User)

"Providing content exposure data is cool so you can monitor yourself" (University Student, Social Media User)

## 2. Importance of a community that brings people together.

The first provotype was designed to explore the role of human interaction and community engagement on social media platforms in addressing echo chambers. Its focus was on supporting and assisting friends in breaking away from their echo chambers. While discussions revealed that the concept of community is highly valued, the practical implementation of this idea in the provotype often resulted in a sense of burden rather than fostering a genuine sense of community.

Literature emphasizes the importance of fostering a community that embraces diverse opinions and encourages respectful dialogue. Setting norms that promote open discussion, free from fear of exclusion or alienation, creating a space for discussions and disagreements is crucial for healthy online interactions (Grönlund et al., 2015; Coscia & Rossi, 2022; Nelimarkka et al., 2018). Designing such spaces holds a significance to bring people together, facilitate genuine dialogues and promote bridges in between echo chambers.

The insights suggest that communities designed to support shared responsibility without placing extra burdens on users should be explored. It is important to cultivate a community feeling that supports users without demanding additional effort from them to care for others. Future design should focus on creating community spaces that facilitate dialogue and support without creating a sense of obligation or burden for users.

#### 3. Designed interventions should be communicated to power-holders to more effectively address echo chambers and provoke a change in the status quo.

Several stakeholders believe that actions from power-holders could be key to addressing social media news consumption and mitigating the impacts of echo chambers. In a study conducted by Gillani et al. (2018), a tool for visualizing social networks allowed a sample of Twitter users to explore the politically-engaged segments of their social network. The study found that some participants felt that mitigating ideological echo chambers should not be solely the responsibility of individuals. Instead, there is a need for a shared responsibility between political institutions and algorithmic curation on social media platforms. These insights highlight the importance of communicating designed interventions to stakeholders to demonstrate possible alternatives and inspire a change in the status quo.

## **CHAPTER 4**

# SHAPI THE DE VISION

The design vision is shaped by the insights gained from the literature review, the research phase, and the triangulation of these insights. While the research phase provided insights on both macro and micro levels, it was necessary to revisit the project's aim and problem statement based on the gathered insights. The main aim is to increase young adults' exposure to diverse viewpoints during incidental news consumption on X (formerly Twitter) and to enhance the quality of online discourses. This chapter presents the current X features, debate examples to reflect the current user experience, essential components of the design vision, and design criteria.

4.1 Current X(Twitter) Features4.2 Examining Current Discussions in X4.3 Design Vision4.4 Design Criteria



## 4.1 Current X(Twitter) Features

X (formerly Twitter) aims to promote and protect public conversation, positioning itself as the town square of the internet . (Twitter 2.0: Our Continued Commitment to the Public Conversation, n.d.) X offers features like trends, communities, community notes, and spaces to bring people together. Examining these features and their pros and cons can provide insights for potential interventions to enhance diverse perspectives and improve the quality of discourses on social media.

**Trends:** Trends on X are displayed based on the topics users follow, their recent engagement, shared interests with other user groups, and their location. Users can decide to view non-

For you	Trending	News	Sports	Entertainment
Trends fo	r you			
Trending in Gam <b>Epic</b> 241K posts	iing			
Politics · Trendir Charles Mich	ng <b>el</b>			
Politics · Trendir #Raisi 98.2K posts	ng			
Trending in Tech MacBook Air 2,408 posts	nnology			
Trending in Gerr Kredite	nany			
Show more				

Figure 12. Trends

tailored trends by selecting the Trending tab in the Explore setting. These trends highlight popular topics within specific geographic regions. (Trends Recommendations, n.d.) (Figure 12)

<b>Communities:</b> Communities are moderated
groups on X where users can connect others
with their interests and share discussions. (Join
a Community on X   X Help, 2023) (Figure 13)

Welcome to Twitter

people on Twitter can connect and share.

E Tweet directly to a Community

members - not your followers

Get backup when you need it

and keep conversations on track.

Meet others with your interests

Communities are moderated discussion groups where

Talk to people who care about the same things you

Your Tweets are shared with other Community

Admins and moderators help manage Communities

Check it out

Figure 13. Communities

 $\mathbb{X}$ 

**Community Notes is a** 

over time, can earn the ability to write.

people with different points of view.

Find out more in the Community Notes Guide

collaborative way to keep

Contributors are people like you. Anyone on X whose account meets the eligibility criteria can sign up to help.

2 All contributors start with the ability to rate notes, and

3 Notes aren't chosen by majority rule. Community

4 X doesn't choose what shows up: the people do.

Join Community Notes

Figure 14. Community Notes

Notes identifies notes that are found helpful by and for

people better informed.

Communities

do

Community Notes: Community Notes aims to

create a more informed user base by enabling users to collaboratively add context to posts that might be misleading. Contributors can leave notes on any post, and if enough contributors from diverse viewpoints find the



Figure 15. Spaces

note helpful, it will be displayed publicly on the post. (About Community Notes on X | X Help, 2023) (Figure 14)

**Spaces:** Spaces offer a platform for live audio conversations on X. Anyone can join as a listener, and hosts can invite up to 10 speakers to their session and set the rules for the conversation. (About X Spaces, 2023) (Figure 15)

These features offer different formats for user interaction, such as audio and text, and provide opportunities to create discussion environments. However, the quality of the discussions and debates remains questionable. The next section will examine current debates in terms of exposure to diverse perspectives and constructive dialogue.

## **4.2 Examining Current Discussions in X**

As this thesis primarily focuses on traditional news organizations, this section explores debates within current news publications on X. This analysis involves reviewing published news articles and the discussions in the comments sections. News articles were identified through traditional news profiles, and only those with comments were examined. Figure 16 is provided as an example to illustrate current cases, more examples can be found



Figure 16. Discussion on the Comments Section

in Appendix F. The analysis revealed that, although some opposing views are expressed in the comments, the predominant format tends to be opinion statements rather than fostering a genuine discussion and debate. Often, individuals express their opinions very strongly and respond to others sarcastically, which hinders constructive dialogue. (Figure 16).

# **4.3 Design Vision**

The essential components of the design vision focuses on the moment of incidental news exposure, increasing the exposure to diverse news perspectives and encouraging users to engage in constructive discussions. (Figure 17)

Incidental news exposure on social media is often unintentional and characterized by brief and fragmented reading habits. According to the research from Boczkowski et al. (2018), interviewees report that they typically pay attention only to headlines, images, and lead paragraphs. To address this brief moment of exposure, the design vision aims to disrupt users' routine behaviors by introducing friction and creating opportunities for reflection. Increasing the engagement with the content could be a way to achieve this approach.

Exposure to diverse viewpoints is the initial step toward a healthy democracy, but it must be followed by meaningful discussion and engagement. Masip et al. (2020) emphasize that such engagement fosters understanding and dialogue across differing opinions, essential for democratic discourse. Habermas (1989) describes this as the essence of deliberative democracy, where the public sphere facilitates communication, information exchange, and discussion among diverse groups.

In summary, the design vision seeks to disrupt the brief moments of incidental news exposure and provoke them to seek diverse views. Once it is achieved, the vision aims to promote constructive discussion between users with diverse opinions. This approach should be integrated into the current social media interface to address privacy and transparency concerns associated with external applications.



Figure 17. Stages of Design Vision

# **4.4 Design Criteria**

Design criteria is defined to provide a clear framework and set of guidelines to make sure that the design intervention meets the desired goals and objectives. Design vision and criteria is followed for the creation of design interventions.

#### **Disrupt incidental exposure**

(1) Design frictions to disrupt the brief moment of news consumption and nudge users to explore diverse perspectives.

#### Community space

(2) Establish a dedicated community space for discussions, debates, and access to resources related to news content.

#### Increase exposure to diverse perspectives

(3) Ensure presentation of news from opposite viewpoints

(4) Ensure a range of perspectives and opinions represented

#### Promote constructive discussion

**(5)** Encouraging users to participate in constructive discussions.

#### Integration with the current interface

(6) Integrating new features to the existing X(Twitter) interface

(7) Maintain user-friendly design, making new elements easy to navigate and understand.



• • • X • X=• / I • / • }---• • • 1 • 1 = 1 PROPOS • - / -• ] • ] PROPOS • - / -(-1)PROPOS 9-• 9- N - 1 - $\left( - \right)$ PRODOS DRODOSAL • ] • ] • ] • ] • ] ( - )• ] • ]-----• ] • ( - )• • ] • ] = •  $G = \Gamma$ design drodosal 

## **CHAPTER 5**

# INITIAI DESIGI PROPC

This chapter presents the initial design proposal, titled "Diverse Perspectives Hub." With the design vision and criteria already established, the development of design proposal was guided by this framework and enriched by additional elements from the literature, such as nudging methods and designing frictions. The proposal consists of three main components: a landing page, frictions to disrupt incidental exposure, and a dedicated community space for online discourse. This chapter includes the following sections:

5.1 Landing Page
5.2 Disrupting Incidental Exposure
5.2.1 Framing
5.2.2 Priming
5.2.3 Social Norms
5.2.4 Loss Aversion
5.3 Dedicated Discussion Space



## **5.1** Landing Page

The aim of creating a landing page is to communicate the new feature, its values, and give ideas about how the product would look like. The design includes the X logo and begins with a header that explains the main purpose of the product, highlighting the benefits for X users in fostering a well-informed society. The next section aims to engage users by presenting two different perspectives of the same news story, demonstrating the contrast between what users see on their feed and a contrary perspective.

Following this, the landing page outlines the feature's values, explains how it works, and includes user testimonials. Call to Action (CTA) buttons are placed to direct users to the main product. For prototype purposes, CTA buttons are present but not linked to the following screens. Both desktop and mobile versions of the landing page have been designed. The interactive prototype can be found in Appendix G. (Figure 18)



Figure 18. Landing Page

## **5.2 Disrupting Incidental Exposure**

Since the scope of this research addresses incidental news consumption on X, and incidental news consumption occurs very briefly (Boczkowski et al., 2018), disrupting this moment and fostering mindful interactions has been seen as an opportunity. Given that incidental news consumption has a greater impact on younger individuals due to their reduced interest in consuming news (Fletcher & Nielsen, 2017), transforming this brief moment into a more mindful interaction can enhance the user experience. Cox et al. (2016c) argues that introducing small frictions into interactions can sometimes improve everyday technology use. Design frictions can interrupt "mindless" interactions, encouraging moments of reflection and fostering more "mindful" engagement.

A microboundary is an intervention that introduces a small obstacle before an interaction, preventing users from quickly transitioning from one context to another. This brief interruption creates a moment for users to reflect on their actions (Cox et al., 2016c). By designing such frictions, it is possible to disrupt unconscious interactions and guide users toward more mindful engagements, employing nudging as a technique. Nudging aims to influence people's choices by leveraging specific psychological effects or counteracting automatic decision-making tendencies (Mirsch et al., 2017b). As many decisions are now made on screens, the concept of nudging has become increasingly relevant in the digital world (Mirsch et al., 2017b). Users often make quick, automatic decisions without processing all necessary details (Weinmann et al., 2015). Therefore, it is crucial to define the type of nudge being used and to be transparent about it. The interventions designed in this research fall into the category of transparent Type 2 nudges (Hansen & Jespersen, 2013a), which guide users to change their behavior predictably while preserving their freedom to choose differently. This category of nudges is known as 'empowerment' nudges, which aim to support transparent and reflective decisionmaking in users' best interests without adding extra regulations or incentives (Hansen & Jespersen, 2013a).

Based on a systematic literature review by Mirsch et al. (2017), which identifies and explains twenty psychological effects associated with nudges, four relevant psychological effects and related nudging techniques were selected and applied to the design interventions. These interventions are designed to address incidental news exposure from traditional news sources and to nudge users towards exploring diverse perspectives.

#### 5.2.1 Framing

Framing involves presenting a decision problem in a specific way to shape how it is perceived and interpreted (Mirsch et al., 2017b). In this intervention, framing is used to highlight that the consumed content is the result of an algorithm's decision, introducing a friction by displaying a loading icon to slow down users before they consume the content immediately. (Figure 19)

#### 5.2.2 Priming

Priming prepares individuals for a decision by subtly guiding them toward it (Mirsch et al., 2017b). For instance, asking questions like "Do you plan to vote?" or "Do you plan to vaccinate your child?" before a decision-making moment (Sunstein, 2019). In this design intervention, priming is employed by placing a contrasting prompt over the news to attract attention, asking, "Do you want to check what other people think about this news?" before allowing users to read the news and preparing them for the decision. (Figure 20)





Figure 19. Framing

#### 5.2.3 Social Norms

Social norms come from our interactions with others and can be unspoken, with any consequences managed by social networks rather than legal authorities. (Cialdini & Trost, 1998) People usually look at others' behavior for guidance on how to act in uncertain situations. (Mirsch et al., 2017b) This intervention emphasizes that there is a crowd engaging in an open debate, aiming to show users what others are doing and nudging them to participate. The intervention is placed on top of the news to create contrast and attract attention of the users. (Figure 20)

#### 5.2.4 Loss Aversion

The concept of loss aversion in psychology indicates that people tend to be more influenced by potential losses and disadvantages than by equivalent gains and benefits. (Kahneman et al., 1991) Phrases like "8 people are looking right now" or "In high demand!" are used to convey information about popularity or limitation, triggering this principle. (Mirsch et al., 2017b)

The intervention provides statistical data highlighting that the majority views an opposing perspective, and creates a friction where users must first read this information first. After revealing the perspective, the design enables them to discover what they might have missed. (Figure 21)

It is important to note that there are no clear boundaries between these types of nudges, and one type can overlap with others. These types



are selected due to the relevancy with the context and designed as alternatives aiming to explore users' preferences, concerns and the impact of different nudging techniques. The interactive prototypes can be found in Appendix H.



Figure 20. Priming(Left), Social Norms(Right)



Figure 21. Loss aversion

## 5.3 **Dedicated Discussion Space**

After introducing frictions and nudges during users' incidental news consumption, the next step was to direct them to a dedicated space where they could explore diverse news perspectives and opinions on these stories.

This space is designed to foster a sense of community, with established community rules. When users click on any of the call-to-action buttons from the previous section, they are guided to this designated area. Here, users first review the community rules before accessing official perspectives from various news organizations on the same topic. This space is structured to bring users together under the articles to facilitate a healthy discussion environment, encouraging interaction through upvote and downvote buttons that reflect their support or disagreement with different perspectives. (Figure 22)

≏

Discover

Μ

Design interventions of the discussion space is intentionally kept simple, positioning the design as a conversation starter.



*Figure 22. Dedicated discussion space* 

It is aimed to focus on creating a discussion environment to gather users' expectations, concerns, and recommendations.



on user 

## CHAPTER G

This chapter presents the user evaluation process, focusing on the utilization of focus groups to assess and refine the design alternatives. By employing focus groups, it is aimed to gain a deeper understanding of user preferences, concerns, and suggestions for improving the design interventions. The feedback collected through these sessions will be used in defining design recommendations and redesigning alternative proposals to better promote diverse perspectives and healthier online discussions. This chapter includes:

6.1 Method **6.2 Participant Selection** 6.3 Data Collection 6.4 Data Analysis 6.5 Insights 6.5.1 Overall Insights of the Session 6.5.2 Intervention-Based Insights 6.6 Takeaways from the Session 6.7 Reflection to the Session Outcomes



## 6.1 Method

Focus group was selected for this study to facilitate discussions aimed at evaluating and improving the design alternatives. Massey (2011) highlights that focus groups are effective for gathering diverse data from participants, particularly in social contexts where a variety of perspectives can be explored. Additionally, Mazza (2006) demonstrates that focus groups are well-suited for evaluating visual elements of design by providing insightful feedback and identifying potential issues. Unlike individual feedback methods, focus groups are designed to foster discussion and idea-sharing among participants (Kitzinger & Barbour, 2001).

This method is selected to explore users' reactions to visual and interactive design interventions in a collaborative setting. The method is particularly relevant as the interventions designed to promote an increased quality in online discourse, discussing this feature in a group setting would bring valuable insights and address different perspectives.

## 6.2 Participant Selection

The focus group session was announced through posters shared on university WhatsApp groups. The poster featured a persona with the statement, "I read news when it comes to me on X, but I don't actively search for it." Participants who matched this persona and were regular users of X were recruited. The session is conducted with six participants.

# **6.3** Data Collection

Participants were provided a consent form, which was signed and returned before the start of the session. The session was conducted in person in a round table setting, lasting approximately 1 hour and 30 minutes. Interactive prototypes are created using Figma and accompanied QR codes are prepared in advance. Participants scanned the QR codes with their own phones to interact with the design proposals. The session was recorded and transcribed using an automated transcription tool.

The purpose of the focus group was to gather feedback and insights about the 'Diverse Perspectives Hub' and to explore users' perceptions of this feature. Specifically, the focus group aimed to address the following questions:

What if we introduce frictions during incidental news consumption to encourage users to explore diverse views?

#### How can we promote healthy discourse online? What would be the effective ways of doing it?

The focus group was structured around a preprepared outline and accompanying materials. The session was organized as follows:

**1. Introduction:** The purpose of the focus group is explained, background of the project is provided, and the session's agenda is shared.

**2. Testing:** This part of the session was divided into three phases:

Landing Page: Participants were asked to scan the QR code to access the landing page. After scrolling through the page, they wrote their feedback via post-it notes, followed by an open discussion to capture their initial impressions of the feature.

**Disrupting Incidental Exposure:** Participants interacted with four design alternatives on the X feed, presented in a randomized order. To ensure a balanced evaluation, each participant experienced the alternatives in different orders. After exploring the alternatives, participants were asked to write their feedback on post-it notes and assign them to the corresponding design. The designs were printed out to provide a tangible and visual reference for the discussion. (Figure 23) Participants reflected on their interactions with the call-to-action buttons, noting whether they clicked or did not click the buttons, and their feedback was based on the state of the buttons. An open discussion was held regarding exploring their opinions on the design alternatives.

#### **Dedicated Discussion Space:**

Participants scanned a QR code to access the dedicated space. As in the previous phase, they wrote their feedback on post-it notes and participated in a discussion about their experiences.



Figure 23. Handouts and feedback on alternatives

**3. Feedback and Reflection:** Participants provided overall feedback on the session and offered recommendations during a discussion.

## 6.4 Data Analysis

After transcribing the session, statement cards (Sanders & Stappers, 2013) were created. The analysis is divided into two categories based on the focus group outline, as the study was conducted around different design proposals and discussions. These two categories are created to gain both general and designspecific insights.

First, the Overall Analysis clusters all statement cards according to common patterns. Second, the Intervention-Based Analysis focuses on design-related insights specific to the interventions, guiding the redesign proposals. This two-fold analysis offered a comprehensive view of users' concerns and preferences, as well as design-specific insights about the proposals. A detailed version of the data analysis is presented in Appendix I.

## 6.5 Insights

The insights are divided into two categories: Overall Insights and Intervention-Based Insights. The detailed insights are provided below.

## 6.5.1 Overall Insights of the Session

The overall analysis of the session examines the insights from a holistic perspective, clustering all statement cards according to common patterns. Clustered statement cards provided insights into five main categories. These categories and relevant insights are explained below. A detailed version of the data analysis is presented in Appendix I.

#### 6.5.1.1 Clarity of Terms

There has been confusion about the definitions of terms such as "others" and "perspectives." Participants questioned who "others" referred to, noting that it could vary depending on the type of news. They also questioned how these "others" are defined and clustered. Additionally, they asked for clarity on the meaning of "perspectives"—whether it referred to news perspectives or people's perspectives. Participants questioned how these perspectives are defined, whether they are sharply summarized, and what happens if there are more than two perspectives or none at all. They also mentioned that not all news is worth discussing, as sometimes there is a consensus.

"Others are the people who consume a different content? Geographically different than me?"

#### 6.5.1.2 Expectations from Disruptions

Participants emphasized that they want to see statistical information or the number of people involved. They felt that knowing how many people had seen the news or engaged in a discussion would give them an incentive to join or take the discussion more seriously, especially if it reached a large audience.

One participant mentioned she expects a seamless experience and doesn't want to see nudges after a while. The group supported this, agreeing that nudges should disappear as users become comfortable navigating the discussion space.

Another participant expressed a desire for autonomy to correct the algorithm's suggestions.

"Sometimes, when I reference a tweet, I assume everyone knows what I'm talking about. However, I often realize they don't understand my reference because they haven't seen the tweet."

"I like getting information about the number of/statistics of people who have seen this news."

"I see this as a one month trial to engage more users. But then I think this has to disappear. Then I'm comfortable going to the other space because I want to go there."

## 6.5.1.3 Expectations from the Discussion Space

Participants emphasized the need for a question or statement in the news to form an opinion, as not all news presents a perspective.

When there are perspectives in the news, they want to see the perspectives clearly displayed. Participants also expected to see a glimpse of ongoing discussions and suggested showing summarizing statements of the news perspectives because of its convenience. They mentioned that directing a question or writing a statement about the news would nudge them to form an opinion. One of the participants wanted the option to add new perspectives or cluster existing ones in the discussion space. The same participant suggested implementing an AI bot to scan news and categorize them into perspectives. Additionally, participants mentioned the need for a moderator to start discussions, prevent conflicts, and cluster perspectives.

Initially, the design focused on "public debate", but participants suggested that "hearing voices" might be a better term, as it emphasizes bringing diverse views together and fostering healthy discourse rather than reaching a consensus or defining right and wrong sides.

Participants mentioned that the success of this feature depends on the user type. Four participants identified themselves as "passive" users who read many tweets but do not post. They were unsure if they would be willing to join the debate.

"I'm a passive user of X, I love to read, I spend time on Twitter because I love to read other people but I don't post."

#### 6.5.1.4 Participants' Concerns

Participants expressed concerns about transparency, data tracking, and privacy. They were worried about their names and personal data being linked to discussions. They only wanted to interact with verified accounts to avoid bots and fake accounts. Participants questioned if the discussions they joined would be attached to their accounts and if the algorithm would link discussions to their profiles. They also expressed concerns about why X exposes them to certain news sources more than others. They questioned whether there is a bias towards specific news organizations, who might be funding this increased exposure, and the reasons behind it.

#### "Twitter is exposing more to this kind of news and these kinds of sources. Who is paying for this?"

One participant raised concerns about the potential impact on news organizations, with three others supporting this concern at different points in the conversation. They worried that news sources might adopt a more neutral strategy to avoid being involved in debates, potentially altering the nature of news reporting. Additionally, news organizations might not want to be associated with specific perspectives.

Moreover, participants questioned if this feature fits to the nature of X. As they are all regular users, they mentioned that people in X are very toxic and the idea of a healthy discourse in X did not seem realistic to them.

#### "I think the conversation is too civilized for Twitter, it doesn't have any tension! It's like discussing with ChatGPT."

"In the comment section we fight. So in this section, how do we come to terms to just see each other's views and not agree on something at all?"

#### 6.5.1.5 Implementation to X

Participants recommended that instead of offering this design proposal as a new feature, it could be blended with already existing features such as Communities or Spaces. While two of the participants expressed excitement towards the implementation of this feature, one of them mentioned that he would be scared to see it implemented due to the nature of X.

"I'd be scared to see it implemented. People in X are very toxic. I feel like it would get out of hand very quickly."

#### 6.5.1.6 Impact of the Proposal

Participants discussed that the design proposals increased the awareness of the content they see and encouraged them to reconsider the news content they consume. In this study, the design proposals served as a research object, with all aspects thoroughly discussed, criticized and feedback provided to improve the interaction.

Participants also noted that they interacted with all the nudges out of curiosity, as it was their first time encountering this feature.

"It brings more awareness to see that the news I follow has a view and there are perspectives I don't follow. I am more aware that what I see can be limited."

#### **6.5.2 Intervention-Based Insights**

The user evaluation insights are divided into three parts, corresponding to the three main elements of the design. Each element was discussed separately during the evaluation, building on the previous discussions. The insights cover the design proposals for the landing page, disrupting incidental news exposure, and the dedicated discussion space. This structured approach ensures a comprehensive understanding of how users perceive and interact with each aspect of the design.

#### 6.5.2.1 Landing Page

• One of the participants mentioned that he wanted to see the integration of this feature with the X feed to get a clear picture.

• Participants mentioned that proposed

values of the feature stayed general and it was difficult to understand the value of this feature proposing as an addition to X.

#### 6.5.2.2 Disrupting Incidental News **Exposure**

This section includes four different design alternatives and the insights gathered from user evaluations. Each alternative employs a distinct nudging strategy to introduce frictions into incidental news exposure. The insights highlight user expectations, concerns, and preferences, offering feedback for the redesign phase. The design proposals are presented through images, with relevant insights highlighted on the visuals with numbers.

#### 6.5.2.2.1 Framing

**1.** There was confusion among users about whether the algorithm was rephrasing news, displaying different content from the same source, or finding news within that source, indicating a lack of clarity in its functionality.

**2.** One of the participants mentioned that showing the news organization during loading gives the impression that the content will always be from the same source.

**3.** Another participant expressed fear about waiting for an algorithm to decide the content, indicating a discomfort with this process.

"This kind of made me afraid. Although maybe this news consumption works with the algorithm in the first place, like always, waiting for it to do that... I was concerned."

4. Participants were unclear about the meaning of "support", whether it means supporting the organization or the news content as well as it is not applicable for any type of news.

"We don't support the news if there are no statements made there."

5. Participants preferred to see the alternative perspective before clicking on it to view the discussion.

6. One of the participants asked for the ability to interact with the algorithm, such as by rejecting or correcting its suggestions.

7. While the surprise element is appreciated, one of the participants questioned if it differs from simply refreshing the Twitter feed, as the algorithm will provide new tweets anyway.

8. Another participant mentioned that the design allows you to rethink the content you consume.



#### 6.5.2.2.2 Priming

**1.** One of the participants mentioned that "other people" only refers to people and he would only expect to see people's opinions.

2. Participants mentioned that seeing a number of people engaged would be nice to give an idea about the visibility and the reach of the news.

3. Participants mentioned that "explore" communicates you can observe without actively joining and they would be inclined to click it.



*Figure 24. Insights on Framing design alternative* 

**4.** Participants asked for clarity about the difference between the comment section and where they will be guided when they click on it.

#### 6.5.2.2.3 Social Norms

**1.** One of the participants mentioned that the value proposition of "many are sharing opinions" is unclear as it is already the nature of X.

**2.** Participants associated the term "join" with active participation and expressed their hesitation to click.

**3.** The use of cross and check marks implies that there are right and wrong opinions.

#### 6.5.2.2.4 Loss Aversion

**1.** Users found the design frustrating, mentioning it gives the impression of a paid subscription.

**2.** Participants questioned whether "have seen" effectively conveys people's views since it is a passive action, also questioning the feasibility of this feature.



*Figure 25. Insights on Priming design alternative* 



Figure 26. Insights on Social Norms design alternative

**3.** The meanings of "perspective" and "view" need to be clearly defined. Participants recommended using "view" to refer to people's opinions for clarity.

**4.** Participants preferred to see a glimpse of the discussion before clicking "discover".

#### 6.5.2.3 Dedicated Discussion Space

**1.** Participants emphasized multiple times that only verified accounts should be able to join the discussion to eliminate fake accounts and bots.



Figure 27. Insights on Loss Aversion design alternative

**2.** A participant pointed out that the platform's emphasis is on sharing and discussing opinions rather than factual information, which makes the fourth rule less relevant.

**3**. One of the participants preferred to see the list of active discussions.

**4.** Participants questioned how these perspectives are created and clustered.

**5.** Participants mentioned that using green and red gives the impression of right and wrong. Additionally, providing only two options makes them pick either one of them intuitively.

9:41		() V		ul 🌣 🔳
	<b>Maximmil</b> Y'all ready f	lian @maxjaco for this next pos	obson ∙3h st?	
	₽ 46	<b>1</b> 8	♥ 363	ſ
CNN	CNN 🥑 @ Women's rig support for efforts to fu more urgen	CNN ·14h ght campaigner the far-right in Ind abortion at t t than before.	s say a surge Europe has r the EU level	e in made even
	Campaigners say	push for EU abortion fundin	g'urgent' post-election	m
	Ø⊗ 4	1,78	♥ 11	Ţ
Discove Join a de	r what you a bate to exploi	are missing out re diverse views.	on. Dis	scover 4
	Zack John karennne	n liked @karennne ·	10h	000
U,	Name a sho worst chara Spellman	ow where the lea acter on the sho	ad character w I'll get Sal	is the brina
U	Name a sho worst chara Spellman Q 2190	the lea acter on the sho ↑ी 1833	ad character w I'll get Sat	r is the prina



*Figure 28. Insights on dedicated discussion space* 

## 6.6 **Takeaways from** the Session

This section synthesizes key takeaways from the user evaluation session, highlighting the essential insights, preferences and concerns expressed by participants. Key takeaways are explained below in detail.

• The importance of clear wording: Participants were confused about terms like "others" and "perspectives," seeking clearer definitions and better clustering of these terms. Questioning if "debate" is the right term; perhaps "hearing voices" is more appropriate. They mentioned that "join" implies active participation, while "explore" allows a space for observation which they preferred "explore" over "join" for encouraging passive observation.

Perspective 2

▲ 11 ¥ 54

Μ

Ξ×

3

Overall, during the session the discussions showed that clear and precise wording is essential for user understanding.

• Seeking for statistical information: Participants desired statistical information on user engagement to get a better idea about the reach of the news and discussions.

• Clear presentation of perspectives and moderation in the discussion space: Users emphasized the need for clear presentation of perspectives with statements and the presence of a moderator to manage discussions. Determination of the perspectives and how they are clustered are questioned during the session.

• Concerns about transparency and the **nature of X:** There were significant concerns about transparency, data tracking, privacy, and the potential bias of exposed news sources. Participants also doubted if healthy discourse was possible on a platform they classify as toxic. (See section 6.5.1.4)

• **Conveying the right message:** Participants mentioned that cross and check symbols in the icon should be reconsidered to avoid implying right and wrong opinions. Moreover, the icon of the space and the up/down voting system gives the impression of right or wrong state.

• Preference of a seamless experience: Users prefer a seamless experience and do not want to see these nudges after a while.

• **User unfamiliarity:** As the participants were regular X users, they found it challenging to imagine changes in the comment section with different icons and unclear navigation. Users asked for clarity on where they will be directed after clicking on this new feature.

• Long-term testing is required: Although all the participants engaged with the nudges, they mentioned that they were curious as it was their first time seeing this feature. The feature's effectiveness over long-term use should be tested.

## 6.7 **Reflection to** the Session **Outcomes**

As outlined in Chapter 6.3, the design proposals and user evaluation session aimed to answer the following questions:

What if we introduce frictions during incidental news consumption to encourage users to explore diverse views?

How can we promote healthy discourse online? What are effective ways to achieve this?

The session revealed that users prefer a seamless, effortless experience, which contrasts with the design's goal of introducing friction to encourage reflection and informed news consumption. While users engaged with the nudges and reflected that these disruptions heightened their awareness of content, they preferred these features to be temporary. This finding suggests that future designs should integrate these frictions in a manner that is contextually relevant and aligns with user preferences to minimize resistance. Being rejected by users does not necessarily mean that these features should be discarded; rather, designers should explore ways to implement these frictions in a user-acceptable manner and effectively communicate their necessity.

Participants also doubted the possibility of fostering healthy discourse on X, describing it as a toxic environment where people fight, which they even found the idea of having a healthy respectful discourse in X unrealistic. This surprising insight highlights participants' perception of X as a toxic place, despite all of them being regular users and enjoying their time at the platform.

The designs aimed to create a new space for respectful engagement, introducing a discussion space as a new feature to the platform. Participants questioned the value proposition of this new feature as they found it closely related to the already existing features such as Communities or Spaces. Additionally, since the discussion environment was designed as a conversation starter and was not fully developed, insights on promoting the quality of online discourse remain unresolved. Participants were unable to fully engage in the discussion environment, resulting in feedback that primarily reflected user preferences and concerns.

Outcomes of this chapter, including detailed reflections on user preferences, the impact of design frictions, and the challenges of fostering healthy discourse on social media platforms, will be further discussed in Chapter 8. "Friction exists in many different forms and is not always a feature of design. Descriptively it can be, and normatively, sometimes it should be. Companies have implemented friction-in-design measures, often to serve their own interests and sometimes to promote a societal goal."

(Frischmann & Benesch, 2022b)

• • ----• • • = / | • ) • • • = • │┍-┥**╡**(╍┤・)╷╵│ ----**=** 2 • • • • • • \ **[-=**-**⊣** • **⊢** • \ **F**=-• RECOMMENDATIONS • MMENDATIONS DESIGN 

## CHAPTER 7

## DESIGN Recommi

In this chapter, the findings from the user evaluation session are discussed and translated into design recommendations for future research. As previously mentioned, the analysis was conducted in two parts: overall insights that cluster all insights from different design alternatives, and intervention-based insights. Due to the overlapping nature of these clusters and insights, the design recommendations are presented as a whole.

The recommendations are organized into three sections: disruption-related recommendations, which focus on the moment of incidental news exposure and the introduction of frictions; discussion space-related recommendations, which delve into users' expectations about an online discussion space; and redesign proposals, which aim to provide further insights and guidance for future practice and research by visualizing the recommendations in a conceptual way. This chapter includes:

7.1 Disruption Related Recommendations7.2 Discussion Space Related Recommendations7.3 Redesign Proposals



## 7.1 Disruption Related Recommendations

## 1. The terms used in the future design should be clear and consistent.

The terms used in the design should be clear and consistent to avoid confusion and enhance user understanding. As mentioned in the previous chapter, participants frequently questioned the meanings of terms like "perspective," "others," and "views." These terms were intended to represent diversity but caused confusion due to their vague and overlapping definitions.

To address this issue, it's important to refer to the literature for suitable terminology. According to Helberger et al. (2016), there is no universally accepted definition of "diversity" and "pluralism" in media consumption. The British Ofcom's (2012) report on measuring media plurality noted that an ideal outcome involves consumers actively sourcing information from multiple outlets, implying a need for diverse media consumption. However, Helberger et al. (2016) argues that these definitions still lack clear criteria for designing diversity-sensitive recommendation services.

This thesis adopts Habermas's (2006) notion of the public sphere, which suggests that exposure to diverse viewpoints is achieved by making a range of opinions on a given topic visible or by bringing different viewpoints into contact through system design. (Helberger et al.,2016) This approach provides a more structured framework for defining diversity.

Therefore, instead of using "others," which can marginalize people, the design can use "people" to refer to all users inclusively. Additionally, using "viewpoints" to describe people's opinions can reduce confusion, as supported by both the literature and user feedback.

By adopting these clearer and more consistent terms, the design can better convey its intention to promote diverse viewpoints and improve user engagement.

# 2. Providing statistical/numerical information during the disruption is appreciated and seeked by participants when it is absent.

Participants expressed a preference for the inclusion of statistical or numerical information during disruptions. They appreciated seeing data such as the number of people engaged with the news or discussions. As mentioned, this information provides context and enhances their understanding of the news reach and engagement, giving them an incentive to participate or not. This is closely related to the psychological effect and nudges associated with social norms. According to Mirsch et al. (2017b), about social norms, people usually look at others' behavior for guidance on how to act in uncertain situations. Although the initial design proposed using a single nudging method for each alternative, the feedback suggests incorporating social norms into the design proposals based on participants' preferences.

Therefore, future designs should incorporate relevant statistical/numerical data to meet user expectations and enhance the user experience in the moment of disruption.

#### 3. Using "Explore" over "Join" for Call-To-Action(CTA) Button is preferred.

Participants indicated that the term "explore" communicates the ability to observe without the need for active participation, making them more inclined to click it. Conversely, they associated the term "join" with active participation and expressed hesitation to click. Therefore, using "explore" as the CTA is recommended to encourage user engagement by offering inviting and less demanding option.

## 7.2 Discussion Space Related Recommendations

## 4. Concluding statements should be created to define news perspectives.

As discussed in previous sections, participants found it challenging to read news articles and identify distinct perspectives due to the time and effort required to understand and differentiate them. They suggested using concluding statements to summarize the perspectives related to news. This recommendation aligns with examples in the literature (see Chapter 3.6). Both ConsiderIt (Kriplean et al., 2012) and OpinionSpace (Faridani et al., 2010) encourage users to reflect on other perspectives by directing questions and employing techniques like rating statements or creating pro/con points. This approach, supported by both literature and participant feedback, shows that providing concluding statements or questions helps users easily grasp available perspectives and form opinions.

## 5. The process of creating and categorizing news perspectives should be clearly defined.

As highlighted in the user evaluation, not all news articles contain distinct perspectives. For those that do, it is essential to clearly define how these perspectives are created and by whom. The discussion space should be limited to news with specific perspectives or statements, acknowledging that it is not suitable for all types of news. One participant suggested using an Al bot to cluster news and create perspectives, controlled by moderators. This approach is considered applicable and relevant by the researcher but must be transparently communicated to users to address potential transparency concerns.

## 6. There should be a moderator to control the discussion space and foster a healthy discourse.

To ensure the discussion space enables healthy discourse, there is a need for moderators controlling and managing the space. All elements and decisions within the discussion space, including the role of moderators and the systems used, should be clearly communicated to users emphasizing the importance of transparency. While the session did not uncover specifics about the selection and roles of these moderators, these points will be discussed in detail in Chapter 9.

## 7. The future design should avoid features that imply right and wrong sides.

Participants expressed that offering only two options and differentiating them with colors like green and red, or using up and down votes, implies a judgment of right and wrong. This contradicts the goal of creating an inclusive space that brings together diverse viewpoints and fosters healthy, understanding discourse. To achieve this aim, the design should avoid communicating any notion of right and wrong sides and should focus on inclusivity.

## 8. The value propositions of a new feature should be clearly defined and explained to users.

During the user evaluation, participants, who were regular X users, found it challenging to differentiate the proposed discussion space from the existing comment section. They are familiar with the current interface and experience, so it's crucial to clearly articulate how this new feature adds value. Highlighting the additional value will make users more eager to explore, understand, and utilize the new space effectively.

## 7.3 Redesign **Proposals**

Redesign proposals have been created based on user evaluation insights and design recommendations. These proposals aim to advance the research and offer suggestions. They are considered as research outcomes for further exploration and do not represent final designs. The proposals will be detailed in two sections: disrupting incidental news exposure and the dedicated discussion space.

**Disrupting Incidental News Exposure** focuses on the moment of incidental news consumption and aims to introduce frictions at that moment. This approach seeks to slow down the consumption process, encouraging users to reflect on the content they are consuming.

Dedicated Discussion Space revolves around the next step after disrupting users, encouraging them to reflect on the consumed content and nudging them to explore more. This space is designed to foster healthy discourse and provide a platform for users to engage with diverse perspectives in a structured environment.

By addressing these two aspects, the redesign proposals aim to create a more informed and reflective user experience, promoting a healthy online discourse online.

#### 7.3.1 Disrupting Incidental News **Exposure**

As discussed in Chapter 5, during the initial design phase four alternatives are developed to explore different methods of introducing friction, each representing a distinct psychological effect and nudge. Following the analysis, all these alternatives were retained and improved based on user experience and feedback.

Participants expressed a desire for statistical and numerical information during the disruptions, which relates to social norms. Consequently, this type of nudge has been incorporated into all design alternatives during the redesign phase. Along with the initial nudging methods, each redesign proposal provides information about the people engaging with that news.

The redesign approach does not propose a single solution but offers ways of introducing friction into the interaction by ensuring a more comprehensive experience.

The images provided illustrate the redesign proposals, featuring both the initial designs and the new proposals. This side-by-side comparison highlights the differences between them, allowing for a clear understanding of the improvements made.

#### 7.3.1.1 Framing & Social Norms

The redesign aims to maintain the friction that blocks the tweet and provides clear information, addressing the confusions caused in the initial design. The text is revised to offer clear information, enhancing user understanding. When users click the "show" button, they are presented the news with alternative perspectives from other news sources and the number of people sharing their opinions. This approach aligns with the psychological effects and nudging methods of framing and social norms.

To avoid confusion, terms like "perspective" and "support" are omitted based on the design recommendations. The redesign intends to slow users down by initially blocking the news content and providing information about it. After the friction, users see a screen displaying possible alternatives and the number of people engaged, encouraging a reflective engagement with the content.



#### 7.3.1.2 Priming & Social Norms

Based on the user evaluation session and design recommendations, the redesign proposal removed the term "others" to foster inclusivity. To enhance exposure to diverse news sources, an additional screen was added with the prompt, "Do you want to increase your exposure to diverse perspectives? Swipe to explore multiple news sources." This aims to nudge users to prepare for exploring more content, as suggested by the priming effect. On the next screen, users can see multiple news sources by swiping and information about the number of people sharing their viewpoints across these sources. This redesign incorporates both the priming effect and social norms by encouraging users to engage with diverse perspectives and providing information about the number of people engaged. This dual approach aims to increase user awareness and engagement with a broader range of news content.

Figure 29. Framing & social norms redesign proposal

#### 7.3.1.3 Social Norms

As mentioned in the design recommendations, the CTA button has been changed from "Join" to "Explore" to communicate the ability to observe without active participation. The text has been rewritten for clarity and consistency. Instead of emphasizing that people are active, which raises transparency and tracking concerns, the design highlights that people are sharing their viewpoints.

By making these changes, the design uses social norms to encourage user engagement while addressing user concerns about privacy and transparency. This redesign aims to create a more welcoming and less intimidating environment for users to explore diverse perspectives.

#### **Initial Design**



#### **Redesign Proposal**



Figure 30. Priming & social norms redesign proposal

#### **Initial Design**



Figure 31. Social norms redesign proposal

#### **Redesign Proposal**



#### 7.3.1.4 Loss Aversion & Social Norms

The initial design was created to block the news and provide information, nudging users by using the concept of loss aversion. However, as stated in Chapter 6.5.2, users found this design frustrating and did not want to interact with it, despite appreciating the statistical information about the number of people engaged.

The redesign proposal addresses these issues by directing a question to encourage users to think about the content, using phrases like "hear diverse viewpoints" or "people are sharing." Two redesign proposals were developed for these two nudges. The variations involve minor sentence adjustments, placement of the information, and providing information about people's involvement in both numerical and statistical ways.

As mentioned in the design recommendations, participants preferred to see a glimpse of the ongoing discussion in the discussion space. This redesign proposal addresses this preference by framing a question and nudging users to form an opinion. This approach aims to make the interaction less frustrating while still leveraging social norms and loss aversion to encourage reflective engagement.

**Redesign Proposal 2** 

#### **Initial Design**





**Redesign Proposal 1** 

Figure 32. Loss aversion & social norms redesign proposal

#### 7.3.2 Dedicated Discussion Space

The initial name, Diverse Perspectives Hub, has been changed to Diversity Hub to avoid confusion regarding the term "perspectives." As discussed in Chapter 6.5.1.4, participants suggested that only verified accounts should be able to join the discussion space. However, since verified accounts are limited to those with a premium subscription (About X Premium, n.d.), this criteria was revised to allow only personal accounts to join, aiming to prevent bots and fake accounts from participating. Fact-based contributions were removed from the criteria, as the focus of the discussion is on viewpoints, making fact-based contributions

# **Initial Design** ommunity Rules for Diverse erspectives Hub

#### irrelevant. (Figure 33)

An additional onboarding screen has been designed to explain how the discussion space works, aiming to provide transparency. (Figure 33) The space consists of three main elements: users, moderators, and an algorithm. The onboarding page covers relevant information about these elements and offers an option to learn more about the algorithm. Once users review these rules, they can access the discussion space. The rules can also be accessed via an icon in the left corner of the home page.

Additional Screen



#### **Redesign Proposal**

*Figure 33. Changes on the onboarding screen* 

Figure 34 illustrates the changes made to the initial design proposal and presents the redesign. As emphasized in the design recommendations, concluding statements have been added to define specific perspectives. Users can click on perspectives to read the related statements and swipe through different news sources. The discussion space is designed to bring together people from different viewpoints, regardless of the news source they encounter or believe. Up and down votes have been removed based on the design recommendations, as they suggest right and wrong sides and do not align with the inclusive aim of this discussion space. The same revision was made to the icon of the diversity hub, located in the navigation bar, and the wording was fixed and clarified as discussed.

An additional screen has been designed to display current discussions, serving as the home page for this feature. The discussions are titled to give a broad idea of the topic, showing the number of participants involved, online participants, and the number of relevant news sources linked to the discussion. The number of moderators and their accounts can be found, as well as alternative perspectives offered in this space. Showing current discussions was recommended by a participant in the user evaluation session and included in the design proposals to provide users a broader picture. (Chapter 6.5.2.3)

**Additional Screen** 

What would be the strategies for funding abortion at the EU level to support women rights?

🔷 🗘 🗹

645

ତି Q

٥

#### **Initial Design**



*Figure 34. Changes on the discussion space* 

**Redesign Proposal** 



• • • J. • • • • • • ) ્ર • • • • • • • • 3 • • • ▋■⋤═┤(●)ノ • ્ર • • • • • • • • 3 • • • • <u>.</u> • • ) • • • • • • ્સ્ટ • • ) • • • • • • • • • • ] / • • **CLUSION DISCUSSION & CONCLUSION** 

## CHAPTER 8

R  $\bullet$ 

In this chapter, the findings from user evaluations and design recommendations are discussed. The chapter revisits the research questions, reflects on the insights gained, and outlines the research limitations. Finally, it suggests directions for future research and offers a personal reflection on the project, concluding with the thesis's contributions to fostering a well informed society through the design interventions. This chapter includes:

8.1 Discussion about the Process 8.2 Discussion about Recommendations and Implementation 8.3 Revisiting Research Questions 8.4 Limitations of the Research 8.5 Suggested Future Research 8.6 Reflection to the Project 8.7 Conclusion



## 8.1 Discussion about the Process

This thesis focuses on the impact of social media personalization algorithms at the moment of incidental news consumption, considering the occurrence of echo chambers and their effects on both individuals and society. Due to the complexity of the topic, it encompasses many overarching subjects. The research questions provided in Chapter 2 evolved during the process as new perspectives and layers were introduced. While the literature review aimed to answer the initial research questions, it also brought forth additional related topics and layers. The theoretical foundation involved social media personalization systems, the occurrence of echo chambers, and incidental news consumption.

The thesis began with a design activist approach, which challenges the current system and seeks to implement changes. This approach introduced current EU regulations, such as the Digital Services Act (DSA), and democracy models into the discussion. Reviewing these elements in the literature helped finalize the research questions and provided a base for the next steps.

The design activist approach influenced the literature review and the exploratory steps of the project. A power map was created to identify and engage with key power holders who could influence and facilitate change within the existing system. Stakeholder interviews were conducted with various power holders, including a politician, nonprofit organization members, a policy advisor, and a PhD candidate working on the AI Act. These interviews provided invaluable insights on a broader level. (see Chapter 4.2) Due to the complexity of the topic and the variety of stakeholders reached, the interviews were conducted with experts from different fields. This variety shaped the discussion topics based on the stakeholders' expertise, which created a challenge in clustering the insights and drawing conclusions. As some topics were discussed with only one participant, the conclusions were sometimes based on a single perspective. Therefore, the statement cards were clustered multiple times to find patterns, and triangulation has been done to validate findings by integrating information from diverse sources (Carter et al., 2014). The interviews were positioned as exploratory research in this thesis. The insights of the interviews highlighted the missing perspective in the research: user perspectives.

The next part of the research focused on users, exploring their perspectives on a micro level (see Chapter 4.3). Provotypes were designed to gather insights on users' understanding and approach to personalization algorithms, their acceptance of potential tools, and ways to promote self-reflection. This exploratory phase focused on both macro and micro levels of understanding the related topics.

Given the scope of this thesis focusing on X (formerly Twitter) as a social media platform, an investigation into the dynamics of X was conducted. This investigation covered the current features of X, ongoing discussions, and the potential of these features and problem areas. The literature review also examined existing design interventions to learn from them. At this phase, the dual framework of the thesis, focusing on both macro and micro levels, shifted to a micro level to intervene in users' experiences in a designerly way and promote diversity exposure.

The research guided the design decisions and the creation of design criteria. Designing frictions and nudging were found to be relevant methods and were incorporated into the initial design phase. The designs consisted of three main elements, all incorporating important aspects of the design proposal. The landing page was designed to communicate the value proposition of the feature, while four alternatives explored different nudging methods and related psychological effects, all designed as frictions. In the final phase, the discussion space was designed as a conversation starter to gather users' opinions, preferences, and concerns about these spaces. The first two elements of the design were interactive prototypes that users experienced during the session. The user evaluation session aimed to discuss all three elements equally, but it mainly focused on the dedicated discussion space, as participants were particularly curious about it and wanted to learn more. However, as the discussion space is designed as a conversation starter and lacks detailed features, the discussions evolved around questions, participants' preferences, and concerns.

Although the project began with a design activist approach, this perspective primarily influenced the exploratory phase. Over time, the project evolved and moved away from a strictly activist stance. While the project adopts a disruptive approach aimed at changing the current system for a better-informed society, the research outcomes no longer fully align with a design activist framework. The shift in focus means the project is not strictly considered a design activist initiative, despite its ongoing intention to challenge and improve the existing system.

# 8.2Discussion aboutRecommendations& Implementation

Emerging key points during the user evaluation covered in this section in detail.

Firstly, participants questioned the value proposition of the dedicated discussion space. This could be attributed to the design being a conversation starter or its perceived similarity to traditional comment sections. The initial design, which included the landing page, disrupting incidental news exposure, and the dedicated discussion space, was communicated as a new feature to emphasize their interrelated functions. However, participants suggested integrating this feature with existing functionalities such as comment sections, Spaces, and Communities on X. While the decision to offer this as a standalone feature aimed to create a distinct environment separate from the mainstream nature of X, this effort was not fully appreciated by the participants. Regardless of whether the feature is standalone or merged with existing ones, the design proposals aim to reflect the value proposition of increasing exposure to diverse viewpoints and creating spaces where people with diverse viewpoints can come together. This value proposition can either be integrated into existing feature sets or proposed as a new standalone feature.

Another significant point raised was the inclusion of moderators in the discussion space. Participants mentioned that there should be a responsible person in this space and someone should keep this as a healthy discourse rather than a fight. However, the selection process of these moderators is not discussed during the session. Reflecting back to the discussion that has been made, there should be multiple moderators managing the space to provide a better judgment. These moderators could be selected from volunteers and supported by non-profit organizations advocating for online rights such as EDRi (European Digital Rights (EDRI), 2024), thereby supporting a better-informed society aligning with their advocacies.

Regarding the introduction of frictions to the incidental news consumption, participants mentioned that they are not willing to see these frictions all the time and they prefer a seamless experience. (See Chapter 7.4.1) Nowadays, digital networked technologies and their associated socio-technical systems aim to; optimize efficiency, remove friction, seamlessly interconnect various components and enhance the speed, scale, and scope of technologically-mediated interactions. (Frischmann & Ohm, 2024) Therefore, users expect their social media experiences to be

seamless and smooth explaining their stance against the frictions. However, it is crucial to recognize that some degree of friction is essential for thoughtful decision-making and social interactions. Friction can slow down the fast-paced, attention-deprived world, offering moments for reflection and reconsideration (Frischmann & Benesch, 2022b). Introducing friction during the incidental news exposure on social media is highly relevant due to the nature of the interaction being mindless, very brief and unconscious many of the times. Thus, while users might resist these disruptions, they play a vital role in fostering a well-informed society by encouraging users to pause and reflect on their interactions.

The introduction of a chronological feed, as discussed in the context of the Digital Services Act and the exploratory interviews in this thesis, represents a step forward but may not be sufficient on its own. This thesis advocates for the integration of frictions into endless social media feeds to increase exposure to diverse viewpoints and bring people together with diverse viewpoints. It conveys this advocacy by proposing specific design recommendations and proposals. While acknowledging that influencing regulations is a long-term process requiring comprehensive research, this work goes beyond its scope and hopes to serve as an initial step toward that goal.

In summary, this research indicates that not all social media experiences should be seamless. Incidental news consumption can benefit from being seamful, with thoughtfully introduced frictions providing opportunities for users to slow down and explore diverse perspectives. This approach aims to contribute to a wellinformed society and a healthier democracy. "No one advocates for speed bumps on all streets. Speed bumps are deployed selectively, typically by municipalities, to inject friction as needed to calm traffic and thereby serve the social goals of economic efficiency, public order, safety, and shared use of streets."

(Frischmann & Benesch, 2022b)

## 8.3 Revisiting Research Questions

The research questions initially outlined in Chapter 2 were explored through a comprehensive literature review, an exploratory phase, and a user evaluation session. This chapter will revisit these questions, summarizing the findings and insights gained during the research process.

## RQ1: How can we increase exposure to diverse viewpoints in incidental news consumption on X(formerly Twitter)?

In the scope of this thesis, the literature review about nudging and designing frictions have been seen as an opportunity and effective methods for intervening at the moment of incidental news consumption. Recognizing this opportunity, the initial design proposals incorporated these methods. Given that incidental news consumption occurs briefly and at the initial moment of interaction, it is crucial to intervene at this point to enhance exposure to diverse viewpoints. The design recommendations and insights from this thesis concluded that introducing friction during incidental news exposure increases users' awareness of the content they see and encourages them to reconsider the news they consume (See Chapter 7.4.1).

## RQ2. How can design interventions bring users with different viewpoints together on X?

Personalization algorithms on social media platforms often lead to users encountering different content, making them unaware of the perspectives they might miss. Therefore, it is essential to create spaces where users can come together with diverse viewpoints. A dedicated design space was proposed as a conversation starter to gather insights about people's perceptions and concerns. This space aimed to present different news sources together, allowing users to engage in discussions regardless of the news source they encountered or believed in. However, the user evaluation session revealed several challenges with this approach. Due to the toxic nature of X (See Chapter 7.4.1) and the prevailing attitude of users to engage in combative interactions, participants found the idea unrealistic. They also struggled to see the main difference between this dedicated space and the existing comment section, which may be attributed to the incomplete nature of the design.

Consequently, this question remains partially unanswered. It has become evident that designing these spaces as conversation starters is insufficient. It is also necessary to bring people together in a way that fosters a genuine discussion environment to gather comprehensive feedback. Therefore, further development and testing are needed to refine these spaces and address the identified issues, ensuring that they effectively bring users with diverse viewpoints together and facilitate healthy discourse.

## RQ3. What would designed discussion spaces that bridge echo chambers to foster healthy discourse look like?

The dedicated discussion space, designed as a conversation starter, was evaluated to understand users' preferences and concerns. The insights showed that users seek transparency in spaces that bring together different news sources and perspectives. It is crucial to clearly define and cluster news perspectives and ensure the presence of a moderator to manage the space. Participants preferred concluding statements that refer to news perspectives due to their convenience. To foster healthy discourse, the design should avoid features that imply right and wrong sides and should instead promote inclusivity. Further research can build on these insights to refine the design of discussion spaces that bridge echo chambers and promote healthy discourse.

## 8.4 Limitations of the Research

This thesis presents several limitations that should be considered when interpreting the findings and design recommendations.

First of all, the user evaluation session focused primarily on the initial experiences, reactions and perceptions of participants to the design proposals. This short-term evaluation did not allow for the assessment of long-term engagement, and user adaptation. Future research should include long-term studies to understand how users interact with these frictions and discussion spaces over time and how their behaviors and attitudes might evolve. The user evaluation was conducted with a small sample size of only six participants which were all university students. This limited sample size restricts the generalizability of the findings, as the insights gathered may not be representative of the broader user base of X. A larger and more diverse group of participants would provide more robust and comprehensive feedback, improving the reliability of the conclusions drawn. Controlled environment of the user evaluation session may not accurately reflect the real-world dynamics and complexities of X. The platform's toxic nature and users' tendency to engage in combative interactions present significant challenges that were not fully replicated in the evaluation setting. Future research should explore the applicability of these design interventions in the actual social media environment to better understand their real-world effectiveness.

Secondly, the dedicated discussion space was designed as a conversation starter rather than a fully completed design. As such, it was not thoroughly developed to the point where it could be tested comprehensively. This incomplete nature of the design limited the ability to gather fully representative feedback on their effectiveness and usability. Therefore, it only provided insights about users' preferences and concerns about designing these kinds of discussion spaces.

Lastly, participants in the user evaluation expressed skepticism about the feasibility of fostering healthy discourse on X, given its existing reputation for toxicity. This resistance to change highlights the need for additional strategies to address user perceptions and build trust in the new design spaces. Future research should explore ways to overcome these challenges and foster a more positive and constructive user environment.

## 8.5 Suggested Future Research

This thesis provides insights into the challenges and opportunities of designing interventions to disrupt incidental news consumption and foster healthy discourse on social media platforms. While the proposed designs showed potential, further research and real-world testing are essential to refine these interventions and address user concerns effectively. Several points are listed for the further research to develop on this research:

#### • Conducting evaluations with larger and more diverse participant groups is necessary to gather more representative insights.

This will help assess the long-term engagement and impact of the design interventions, ensuring their effectiveness across various demographics and user behaviors.

• Future research should implement the design spaces in actual social media environments to evaluate their realworld applicability and effectiveness. This will provide valuable data on how these interventions perform outside controlled settings and in the dynamic, often unpredictable

87

context of social media platforms.

• Exploring strategies to overcome user resistance to frictions and build trust in the new design spaces is crucial. Research should focus on developing methods to introduce frictions in ways that are acceptable to users, explaining their necessity, and demonstrating their benefits for a more positive and constructive public environment. Designers should explore ways to implement these frictions in a user-acceptable manner and effectively communicate their necessity.

• Understanding the long-term impact of these design interventions is essential. Future research should investigate how continuous exposure to these frictions affects user behavior, information consumption, and overall engagement with social media over time.

## • Emphasizing the importance of transparency, inclusivity, and user engagement in developing design solutions is important.

Ensuring that users are part of the design process can help create more effective and accepted interventions, promoting a more informed and diverse public discourse.

By addressing these areas, future research can build on this thesis, contributing to the development of social media environments that promote well-informed society and foster healthy discourse.

## 8.6 Reflection to the Project

At the beginning of this project, I set myself personal ambitions and aimed to deepen my understanding of transparency in AI, learn about users' perspectives of personalized systems, and explore future possibilities. I was enthusiastic about delving into diverse design methodologies, such as research through design and design activism, with the aim of empowering users in their interactions with AI. Reflecting on these ambitions and the overall project journey, I am very happy with this thesis.

As the project progressed, I realized the complexity of the topic, which includes not only technological aspects but also social impacts on individuals and society. I soon found that the project ran the risk of getting out of hand due to myself feeling not in control of my own project. Taking steps in the beginning without planning it properly put the project in danger and I had to redefine and adjust the project's scope. Nevertheless, I am most proud that my years of study have taught me how to deal with issues during the process and find my interests while researching and designing in a structured and systematic way. I am very grateful for the input, critique, and support from my supervisors, who guided me throughout this journey.

Working on this project, I learned a lot as a designer. Throughout the process, I found myself interested in AI ethics and responsible AI practices, as I enjoyed their complexity and interdisciplinary connections. Understanding AI is not just about technology but also its impact on individuals and society broadened my perspective. I learned about EU regulations, policymaking, democracy models, and recommender systems. The complexity of the project and its connections to various disciplines were both challenging and rewarding. I gained practical experience by conducting user sessions, analyzing data, and integrating literature into my work. This process expanded my design research methods, including creating design proposals, leading user sessions, conducting interviews, and discussing my work.

I am grateful for the insightful conversations and the people who helped me gain a more realistic and holistic understanding of my work. Looking back, redefining the project to transform the research into a structured and systematic approach was one of the greatest challenges. Although there were challenges on the way, I am proud of my progress and the results I achieved.

Ultimately, I managed to adjust and adapt to the environment, engaging with scientific literature, methodologies, and data gathered through user sessions. I am pleasantly surprised by how much I have learned through this graduation project, in addition to my master's studies. I am proud to be graduating with an MSc degree from TU Delft. I look forward to discovering further ways in which design can bring benefits and to exploring new opportunities after my studies!

## 8.7 Conclusion

This thesis explores and addresses designing interventions that disrupt incidental news consumption and foster healthy discourse on social media platforms. By analyzing qualitative data obtained from expert interviews, provotypes and a user evaluation session, this research identifies both the challenges and opportunities in creating such interventions.

The literature review introduced interdisciplinary layers to this thesis including recommender systems, echo chambers, EU regulations, and democracy models. All these layers provided a guideline for the exploration of potential changes to the social media landscape and brought different topics together. Interviews with key stakeholders, including politicians, non-profit organizations, and policy advisors, offered valuable insights as an exploratory research and identified aspects that had been overlooked. The study shifted to a detailed investigation of the X(formerly Twitter), analyzing its features and potential problem areas. This led to the development of design proposals that introduce frictions in incidental news consumption to increase exposure diversity and bring people together

with diverse viewpoints in healthy online discourse. The design process included creating interactive prototypes and a dedicated discussion space, intended to serve as a conversation starter for users to share their opinions and concerns.

Key findings from the user evaluation session highlighted actionable recommendations for future research as well as creating redesign proposals to further develop the research. The key findings about the dedicated discussion space include that it is crucial to use clear and consistent terminology, such as "people" and "viewpoints," to enhance user understanding and engagement. Additionally, the design should include concluding statements to summarize news perspectives, clearly define and categorize these perspectives, and ensure transparency in the process. Moderators are essential for managing the discussion space and fostering healthy discourse, while the design should avoid implying right or wrong sides to maintain inclusivity.

To introduce friction to endless scrolling, users expressed a preference for incorporating statistical or numerical data during disruptions to provide context about the broader picture. The term "explore" is favored over "join" for Call-To-Action buttons, as it is perceived as less demanding and more inviting. Lastly, it is important to clearly communicate the value proposition of new features to differentiate them from existing ones and encourage user engagement. These insights aim to guide the creation of more effective social media features that promote diverse viewpoints and a well-informed public.

While the user evaluation session provides valuable insights, comprehensive evaluations with larger and more diverse participant groups are necessary to gather representative insights and assess the long-term impact of these interventions. The findings highlight the importance of transparency, inclusivity, and user engagement in developing design solutions that promote informed and diverse public discourse. By leveraging these findings, future research can focus on implementing design interventions within actual social media environments to evaluate their real-world applicability and effectiveness.

Finally, this thesis advocates for the introduction of frictions into endless social media feeds to bridge echo chambers and enhance the diversity of viewpoints encountered. In other words, this research demonstrates that social media experiences do not always need to be seamless. Thoughtfully introduced frictions can provide moments for reflection and encourage users to engage with a broader range of perspectives, ultimately supporting a more informed and democratic society.

This work represents an initial step towards a more thoughtful and informed social media experience, contributing to a healthier democracy and a better-informed public. While the thesis acknowledges that influencing regulatory change is a long-term endeavor, it hopes to go beyond the scope of the thesis and be an influence to the future regulation practices.







## A

About Community Notes on X | X Help. (2023, September 20). https://help.x.com/en/using-x/ community-notes

About X Premium. (n.d.). https://help.x.com/ en/using-x/x-premium

About X Spaces. (2023, December 21). https:// help.x.com/en/using-x/spaces

## В

Bakshy, E., Messing, S., & Adamic, L. A. (2015). Exposure to ideologically diverse news and opinion on Facebook. Science, 348(6239), 1130–1132. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. aaa1160

Baronchelli, A. (2018). The emergence of consensus: a primer. Royal Society Open Science, 5(2), 172189. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rsos.172189

Boer, L., & Donovan, J. (2012). Provotypes for Participatory innovation. DIS 2012, June 11-15, 2012, Newcastle, UK. https://doi. org/10.1145/2317956.2318014

Borgesius, F. J. Z., Trilling, D., Möller, J., Bodó, B., De Vreese, C. H., & Helberger, N. (2016). Should we worry about filter bubbles? Internet Policy Review, 5(1). https://doi. org/10.14763/2016.1.401

Bruns, A. (2019). Filter bubble. Internet Policy Review, 8(4), 1–14.

## С

Carter, N., Bryant Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. Oncology Nursing Forum, 41(5), 545–547. https://doi. org/10.1188/14.onf.545-547 Chao, Y., Xu, X., Nunes, B. P., & Siqueira, S. W. M. (2023). Bubbles bursting: Investigating and measuring the personalisation of social media searches. Telematics and Informatics, 82, 101999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tele.2023.101999

Chhabra, S., & Resnick, P. (2012). CubeThat. Proceedings of the Sixth ACM Conference on Recommender Systems. ACM, 295–296. https://doi.org/10.1145/2365952.2366020

Choi, A., D'Ignazio, C., Welles, B. F., & Parker, A. G. (2023). Social media as a critical pedagogical tool: Examining the relationship between youths' online sociopolitical engagements and their critical consciousness. CHI '23, April 23–28, 2023, Hamburg, Germany. https://doi. org/10.1145/3544548.3580823

Cialdini, R. B., & Trost, M. R. (1998). Social influence: social norms, conformity and compliance. The Handbook of Social Psychology, Vol. 2, Pp. 151–192. http://psycnet. apa.org/record/1998-07091-021

Cinelli, M., Brugnoli, E., Schmidt, A. L., Zollo, F., Quattrociocchi, W., & Scala, A. (2020). Selective exposure shapes the Facebook news diet. PloS One, 15(3), e0229129. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0229129

Cinelli, M., De Francisci Morales, G., Galeazzi, A., Quattrociocchi, W., & Starnini, M. (2020a). Echo Chambers on Social Media: A comparative analysis. arXiv (Cornell University). https://doi. org/10.48550/arxiv.2004.09603

Coscia, M., & Rossi, L. (2022). How minimizing conflicts could lead to polarization on social media: An agent-based model investigation. PloS One, 17(1), e0263184. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0263184

Cox, A. L., Gould, S. J., Cecchinato, M. E., Iacovides, I., & Renfree, I. (2016c). Design frictions for mindful interactions. CHI'16 Extended Abstracts. https://doi. org/10.1145/2851581.2892410

## D

Dahlgren, P. M. (2021). A critical review of filter bubbles and a comparison with selective exposure. Nordicom Review/NORDICOM Review, 42(1), 15–33. https://doi.org/10.2478/ nor-2021-0002

Del Vicario, M., Bessi, A., Zollo, F., Petroni, F., Scala, A., Caldarelli, G., Stanley, H. E., & Quattrociocchi, W. (2016). The spreading of misinformation online. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 113(3), 554–559. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1517441113

DSA: Very large online platforms and search engines. (2024, July 1). Shaping Europe's Digital Future. https://digital-strategy.ec.europa.eu/ en/policies/dsa-vlops

## Ε

Eg, R., Tønnesen, Ö. D., & Tennfjord, M. K. (2023). A scoping review of personalized user experiences on social media: The interplay between algorithms and human factors. Computers in Human Behavior Reports, 9, 100253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chbr.2022.100253

Ennis, R. H., & Author\_Id, N. (2011). Critical thinking. Inquiry, 26(2), 5–19. https://doi. org/10.5840/inquiryctnews201126215

Erickson, J., Yan, B., & Huang, J. (2023). Bridging Echo Chambers? Understanding Political Partisanship through Semantic Network Analysis. Social Media + Society, 9(3). https:// doi.org/10.1177/20563051231186368

European Digital Rights (EDRI). (2024, July 1). European Digital Rights (EDRi). https://edri.org/



Flaxman, S., Goel, S., & Rao, J. M. (2016). Filter bubbles, echo chambers, and online news consumption. Public Opinion Quarterly, 80(S1), 298–320. https://doi.org/10.1093/poq/nfw006

Fletcher, R., & Nielsen, R. K. (2017). Are people incidentally exposed to news on social media? A comparative analysis. New Media & Society, 20(7), 2450–2468. https://doi. org/10.1177/1461444817724170

Fox, S., Lim, C., Hirsch, T., & Rosner, D. K. (2020). Accounting for Design Activism: On the positionality and politics of designerly intervention. Design Issues, 36(1), 5–18. https://doi.org/10.1162/desi\_a\_00571

Frischmann, B. M., & Benesch, S. (2022b). Friction-In-Design Regulation as 21St Century Time, Place and Manner Restriction. Social Science Research Network. https://doi. org/10.2139/ssrn.4178647

Frischmann, B. M., & Ohm, P. (2024). Governance seams. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4857281

Fuad-Luke, A. (2013). Design activism. In Routledge eBooks. https://doi. org/10.4324/9781849770941

## G

Garg, P., & Singh, S. (2022). Multilayer Perceptron optimization approaches for detecting spam on social media based on recursive feature elimination. In Lecture notes in electrical engineering (pp. 501–510). https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-4831-2\_41

Garrett, R. K., & Stroud, N. J. (2014). Partisan paths to exposure diversity: differences in proand counterattitudinal news consumption. Journal of Communication, 64(4), 680–701. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcom.12105 Geiß, S., Magin, M., Jürgens, P., & Stark, B. (2021). Loopholes in the echo chambers: How the echo chamber metaphor oversimplifies the effects of information gateways on opinion expression. Digital Journalism, 9(5), 660–686.

Gerhards, J., & Schäfer, M. S. (2010). Is the internet a better public sphere? Comparing old and new media in the USA and Germany. New Media & Society, 12(1), 143–160. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444809341444

Gillani, N., Yuan, A., Saveski, M., Vosoughi, S., & Roy, D. (2018). Me, My Echo Chamber, and I: Introspection on Social Media Polarization. DSpace@MIT (Massachusetts Institute of Technology), 823–831. https://hdl.handle. net/1721.1/127278

Grönlund, K., Herne, K., & Setälä, M. (2015). Does enclave deliberation polarize opinions? Political Behavior, 37(4), 995–1020

## Η

Habermas, J., & Burger, T. (1989). The structural transformation of the public sphere : an inquiry into a category of Bourgeois society. https://lib. ugent.be/nl/catalog/rug01:000175885

Hansen, P. G., & Jespersen, A. (2013a). Nudge and the Manipulation of Choice. A Framework for the Responsible Use of Nudge Approach to behaviour change in Public policy. Social Science Research Network. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/ Delivery.cfm/SSRN\_ID2555337\_code2320150. pdf?abstractid=2555337&mirid=1&type=2

Helberger, N., Karppinen, K., & D'Acunto, L. (2016). Exposure diversity as a design principle for recommender systems. Information, Communication & Society, 21(2), 191–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/136911 8x.2016.1271900

## J

Jacob Liedke and Jefrey Gotfried. 2022. U.S. adults under 30 now trust information from social media almost as much as from national news outlets. Pew Research Center. Retrieved January 26, 2023 from

https://www.pewresearch.org/facttank/2022/10/27/u-s-adults-under-30-nowtrust-information-from-social-media-almostas-much-as-from-national-news-outlets/

Jeon, Y., Kim, B., Xiong, A., Lee, D., & Han, K. (2021). ChamberBreaker: Mitigating the Echo Chamber Effect and Supporting Information Hygiene through a Gamified Inoculation System. Proceedings of the ACM on Humancomputer Interaction, 5(CSCW2), 1–26. https:// doi.org/10.1145/3479859

Join a community on X | X Help. (2023, October 6). https://help.x.com/en/using-x/communities

## K

Kahneman, D., Knetsch, J. L., & Thaler, R. H. (1991). Anomalies: the endowment effect, loss aversion, and status quo bias. The Journal of Economic Perspectives, 5(1), 193–206. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.5.1.193

Kim, Y., Chen, H., & De Zúñiga, H. G. (2013). Stumbling upon news on the Internet: Effects of incidental news exposure and relative entertainment use on political engagement. Computers in Human Behavior, 29(6), 2607–2614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chb.2013.06.005

Kleanthous, S., & Siklafidis, C. (2023b). Perception of personalization processes: awareness, data sharing and transparency. CHIGREECE 2023, September 27–28, 2023, Athens, Greece. https://doi. org/10.1145/3609987.3610026

Kriplean, T., Morgan, J., Freelon, D., Borning, A., & Bennett, L. (2012). Supporting reflective public

thought with Considerlt. CSCW'12, February 11–15, 2012, Seattle, Washington, USA. https://doi.org/10.1145/2145204.2145249

Kriplean, T., Toomim, M., Borning, A., & Ko, A. J. (2011). REFLECT: supporting active listening and grounding on the web through restatement. Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW). http://faculty.washington.edu/ajko/ papers/Kriplean2011Reflect.pdf

Liao, Q. V., & Fu, W.-T. (2014). Can you hear me now? Proceedings of the 17th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & amp; Social Computing. https://doi. org/10.1145/2531602.2531711

## Μ

Markussen, T. (2013). The Disruptive aesthetics of design activism: Enacting design between art and politics. Design Issues, 29(1), 38–50. https://doi.org/10.1162/desi\_a\_00195

Mason Walker and Katerina Eva Matsa. 2021. News Consumption Across Social Media in 2021. Pew Research Center. Retrieved January 26, 2023 from https://www.pewresearch.org/ journalism/2021/09/20/news-consumptionacross-social-media-in-2021

Mirsch, T., Lehrer, C., & Jung, R. (2017b). Digital Nudging: Altering user behavior in digital environments. Wirtschaftsinformatik, 634– 648. https://aisel.aisnet.org/cgi/viewcontent. cgi?article=1076&context=wi2017

## N

Nanz, A., & Matthes, J. (2022). Democratic Consequences of Incidental Exposure to Political Information: A Meta-Analysis. Journal of Communication, 72(3), 345–373. https://doi. org/10.1093/joc/jqac008

Nelimarkka, M., Laaksonen, S.-M., & Semaan, B. (2018). Social media is polarized, social media is polarized: Towards a new design agenda for mitigating polarization. In Proceedings of the 2018 designing interactive systems conference (pp. 957– 970). ACM.

Nguyen, C. T. (2018). ECHO CHAMBERS AND EPISTEMIC BUBBLES. Episteme, 17(2), 141–161. https://doi.org/10.1017/epi.2018.32

Nyst, A. (2023, July 17). 134 Social media statistics you need to know for 2023. Search Engine Journal. https://www.searchenginejournal. com/social-media-statistics/480507/

## 0

Ofcom. (2012, June 19). Measuring media plurality (Report). London: Author. Retrieved from http://stakeholders.ofcom.org.uk/ binaries/consultations/measuring-plurality/ statement/ statement.pdf

## Ρ

Panoptykon Foundation. (2023, July 12). https://en.panoptykon.org/

Park, S., Kang, S., Chung, S., & Song, J. (2009). NewsCube. Proceedings of CHI'09, the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (Pp. 443–453). https://doi. org/10.1145/1518701.1518772

Patton, M. Q. (1999). Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. PubMed, 34(5 Pt 2), 1189–1208. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/10591279

Plettenberg, N., Nakayama, J., Belavadi, P., Halbach, P., Burbach, L., Valdez, A. C., & Ziefle, M. (2020b). User behavior and awareness of filter bubbles in social media. In Lecture notes in computer science (pp. 81–92). https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-49907-5\_6

Power mapping | Activist Handbook. (n.d.). https://activisthandbook.org/strategy/ workshops/power-mapping

Prototyping User Empowerment: Towards DSA-compliant recommender systems | Panoptykon Foundation. (n.d.). https:// en.panoptykon.org/prototyping-userempowerment-towards-dsa-compliantrecommender-systems

## R

Ricketts, A. (2012b). The Activists' handbook. https://doi.org/10.5040/9781350222922

## S

Sanders, E., & Stappers, P. (2013). Convivial Toolbox: generative research for the front end of design.

Schmidt, A. L., Zollo, F., Del Vicario, M., Bessi, A., Scala, A., Caldarelli, G., Stanley, H. E., & Quattrociocchi, W. (2017). Anatomy of news consumption on Facebook. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 114(12), 3035–3039. https:// doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1617052114

Schubotz, D. (2020). Denzin, Norman. In SAGE Publications Ltd eBooks. https://doi. org/10.4135/9781526421036

Sonboli, N., Smith, J. J., Berenfus, F. C., Burke, R., & Fiesler, C. (2021b). Fairness and transparency in recommendation: The users' perspective. UMAP '21, June 21–25, 2021, Utrecht, Netherlands. https://doi. org/10.1145/3450613.3456835

Spohr, D. (2017). Fake news and ideological polarization. Business Information Review, 34(3), 150–160.

Stappers, P. & Giaccardi, E. (2014, January 1). Research through Design. Interaction Design Foundation - IxDF. https://www.interactiondesign.org/literature/book/the-encyclopediaof-human-computer-interaction-2nd-ed/ research-through-design

Strauß, N., Huber, B., & De Zúñiga, H. G. (2020). "Yes, I Saw It – But Didn't Read It. . ." A Cross-Country Study, Exploring Relationships between Incidental News Exposure and News Use across Platforms. Digital Journalism, 8(9), 1181–1205. https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811 .2020.1832130

Sunstein, C. R. (2019). Nudging: a very short guide. Business Economics, 54(2), 127–129. https://doi.org/10.1057/s11369-018-00104-5

## Т

Trends recommendations. (n.d.). https:// help.x.com/en/resources/recommendersystems/trends-recommendations

Turillazzi, A., Taddeo, M., Floridi, L., & Casolari, F. (2023). The digital services act: an analysis of its ethical, legal, and social implications. Law, Innovation and Technology, 15(1), 83–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/17579961.2023.2184 136

Twitter 2.0: Our continued commitment to the public conversation. (n.d.). https://blog.x.com/ en\_us/topics/company/2022/twitter-2-0- our-continued-commitment-to-the-public- conversation

## W

Weinmann, M., Schneider, C., & Brocke, J. V. (2015). Digital nudging. Social Science Research Network. https://doi.org/10.2139/ ssrn.2708250

Wilman, F. (2022). The Digital Services Act (DSA) an Overview. Social Science Research Network. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4304586

